
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

FRIDAY
24 JUNE 2016

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester

MEETING PAPERS





AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 24 June 2016
VENUE: Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest Andrea Griffiths

3.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 12) Andrea Griffiths
To approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on the 15th 
April 2016.

4.  Grant Thornton Committee Update (Pages 13 - 22) Terry Tobin

5.  Grant Thornton Audit Fee Letter (Pages 23 - 28) Terry Tobin

6.  Annual Report on Treasury Management (Pages 29 - 46) Paul Blacker

7.  Annual Report on Risk Management Activity 2015/2016 
(Pages 47 - 70)

Theresa Mortimer

8.  Annual Report on Internal Audit Activity 2015/2016 (Pages 71 - 
106)

Theresa Mortimer

9.  Internal Audit Limited Assurance Reports (Pages 107 - 122) Theresa Mortimer
• FAB Team;
• Active together; 
• Capital Virements

10.  Exclusion of the Press and Public 
THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for 
the business specified in agenda item 11 because it is likely that if 
members of the public were present there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 and 7 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in 



withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information to the public

11.  Exempt Internal Audit Limited Assurance Report (Pages 123 - 
126)

Theresa Mortimer

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Colin Guyton, Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Tony Hicks, 
Cllr Barry Kirby, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Nigel Robbins, Cllr Mike Sztymiak, 
Cllr Brian Tipper and Cllr Roger Wilson

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

(1) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Friday 15 
April 2016 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Colin Guyton
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Tony Hicks
Cllr Shaun Parsons

Cllr Nigel Robbins (Chairman)
Cllr Mike Sztymiak
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Roger Wilson

Substitutes: Cllr Brian Oosthuysen

13. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillor Barry Kirby and Jo Walker.  

14. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Parsons declared he was a member of the Pensions Committee.  

15. MINUTES 

The committee discussed in detail Governance in relation to devolution.  Members 
were informed that a combined authority would be required to have a Audit 
Committee.  However, as discussions were still ongoing in relation to devolution, no 
further work on the Audit and Governance Committee’s remit had been undertaken 
at this stage.  Councillor Parsons informed the committee that Overview Scrutiny 
Management Committee would be discussing the scrutiny and Audit & Governance 
roles in more detail, in relation to devolution.  It was suggested that OSMC should 
look at joint working committees and their concepts in greater detail.  The 
committee felt that Audit & Governance would have a critical role in the new 
arrangements if devolution bid is approved.  

The Chairman informed members that the process would be discussed at a future 
committee meeting.  

The Monitoring Officer reassured members that any new arrangements would be 
discussed primarily at the Constitution Committee and submitted to full council.  

All matters arising had been dealt with and communicated to members of the 
Committee.

Resolved

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

That the minutes of the Audit & Governance Committee meeting held on the 
22nd January 2016 be signed as a correct record by the Chairman.  

16. GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PLAN FOR GCC & PENSION FUND 

Elizabeth Cave presented the report which informed the Committee of the audit 
work to be undertaken for the 2015/16 financial year for Gloucestershire County 
Council, Gloucestershire Pension Fund and the fee involved.

It was noted that the report submitted to the committee included a few typographical 
errors, the correct version would be uploaded on the website and included in the 
minute book for information.  

It was explained that devolution, integration with the health sector and the earlier 
closedown of accounts had now been included as a challenge and opportunity.  
The committee also noted that Fair Value Accounting and Corporate Governance 
had been incorporated into the development requirement.  In response to a 
question it was noted that pooled budgets were growing, this represented a 
significant risk.  It was explained that the Better Care Fund had in effect doubled the 
budget.  It was noted this was a difficult area in terms of accounting, risk share and 
accountability.  Officers explained that GCC had detailed discussions with the CCG 
to define the control mechanisms which were in place.  

The external auditor explained that it was essential to be clear on service delivery 
and the required outcomes.  They recognised the technical risk and the need for 
good governance.  Some members felt that the report contained  a lot of subjectivity 
and the different boundaries involved with pooled budgets could cause problems.  

It was noted that joint working arrangements in terms of the better care fund, would 
aim to provide the best service to meet a persons specific needs.  The External 
Auditor suggested that value for money needed to be looked at in more detail, as 
inevitably the situation was less than clear cut.  Members expressed concern over 
joint working arrangements.  The committee wanted reassurance concerning the 
audit and governance arrangements in relation to the Health and Wellbeing Board.  
It was agreed that this issue would be referred to OSMC.  

It was explained that the plan clearly set out the process and had a greater 
emphasis on the elements of risk.  In response to a question, members were 
informed that audits were based on materiality, therefore the audit was designed to 
consider material error.  The committee were informed that Internal Audit and Grant 
Thornton had regular meetings and dialogue throughout the financial year to 
discuss key issues on a regular basis.  

During the discussion, members vigorously debated the report content and 
questioned Grant Thornton.  During the discussion, members referred to revenue 
recognition and seeked assurance from Grant Thornton that the issues were deeply 
considered.  Members were informed that the report highlighted the most important 
aspects of risks, officers duly explained that there were varying levels of risks.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

In response to a question, Paul Blacker explained that there was a two year cycle 
for valuation of property.  It was noted that PWC completed the technical evaluation 
and did consider the actuaries report.  

Members recognised the context of proposed recommendations, however there 
were no timescales.  Elizabeth Cave explained there were statutory responsibilities 
which had to be adhered too, however many other authorities were also struggling.  
The committee felt that statutory responsibilities should be labelled as urgent 
issues.  As this created a climate of non urgent problem solving, members felt 
auditors had a role to play in this area.  Grant Thornton informed the committee that 
they had a national panel to consider qualifications for value for money.  The Head 
of Financial Management explained that it role of the external auditor was to review 
the arrangements and advise the authority to achieve the objectives and it was 
managements role to put the appropriate methodology in place.  

Some members felt that some areas required greater inspection and analysis.  The 
Monitoring Officer reassured the committee that the authority had a huge amount of 
data analysis tools available and undertook benchmarking on a regular basis.  

Members attention was drawn to the key dates within the report, it was noted that 
this was an important step in the process to ensure a faster close of accounts for 
the County Council and the Pension Fund.  

It was noted that the auditors did not provide a separate value for money conclusion 
on the pension fund.  The committee noted that the pension fund was within the 
remit of the Pensions Committee who reviewed the Auditors annual report.  

The total indicative fee for the council audit for 2015/16 was £98,010 and the 
pension fund audit for 2015/16 was £24,989.   

RESOLVED

The committee wanted reassurance concerning the audit and governance 
arrangements in relation to the Health and Wellbeing Board.  It was agreed 
that this issue would be referred to OSMC.  

THAT the report be noted.

17. GRANT THORNTON ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT 

Terry Tobin presented the report. It was noted that Grant Thornton had devised the 
plan in association with the Authority.  Accounting, audit issues and emerging 
issues were flagged up as part of the regular report.  It was noted that Grant 
Thornton had regular discussions with officers.  

Members felt that consultation exercises with the public were often expensive and 
that due to cut backs it was necessary to decide where to spend to achieve the 
great.  Some members felt good community interaction via councillors who could 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

voice those opinions was the best form of consultation, as they could help to set the 
tone for the organisation.  

The committee discussed the Auditor Appointment in detail.  It was noted that the 
committee would debate and discuss the alternatives prior to the County elections 
in 2017.  Officers explained that the Chief Financial Officer was discussing the 
option’s with the County Treasurers Group and would report back to the committee 
accordingly.  

 Resolved 
 
 That the report be noted.

18. GRANT THORNTON AUDITING STANDARDS 

Terry Tobin presented the report, which summarised the International Auditing 
Standards in relation to the Audit and Governance Committee and management 
responses, as stated within the report.  The committee considered the robust 
responses, which were circulated prior to the meeting and confirmed that it was 
satisfied with the arrangements in place.  

The committee congratulated officers on their efforts and welcomed the report 
which provided detailed responses.  
 
RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

19. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ANNUAL REPORT 

Jenny Grodzicka, Information Management Service Manager presented the report, 
drawing attention to the significant increase in requests and the complexity the 
response rate had dropped below 85% of the statutory timescales. It was noted 
there had been a continued increase in the volume and complexity of requests the 
Council received, with 2195 requests received in 2015 compared with 1892 in 2014.   
The committee discussed the report in detail.  

It was noted that impacts on the rates were as a result of the number FOI requests 
received, complexity, volume of information, and the need to consult with third 
parties and staff availability. Officers explained that they were currently managing 
requests on a risk basis, whilst prioritising high profile and topical requests. 
Members were informed that Information Management Service worked directly with 
all service areas and complicated requests could also be referred to legal for 
support, in order to provide the appropriate response.

The committee was surprised to find that one vexatious FOI request comprised of 
240 parts.  In response to a question, members learnt that service resources hadn’t 
been increased, however officers were working more closely with service areas and 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

maintained a FOI database. Members asked in future could chart 3 (page 98) 
include the previous years figures for a  comparison.   

Members were informed that information was published on the County Council 
website, in a bid to improve openness and transparency and to reduce Freedom of 
Information requests.  Officers actively looked at ways of communicating what 
information was easily available and uploaded all the responses on to the website.  

Officers recognised that the existing Council processes needed reviewing to ensure 
requests were well managed and have commissioned a piece of work to look at the 
future of request management across the Council. 

Members were informed that requests falling under the Data Protection Act 
continued to see the biggest percentage increase, from 399 to 596 requests, which 
was a 49% increase. These dealt with co-ordinating large volumes of both paper 
and electronic files,  many of which required the full content to be assessed prior to 
release, so were very time consuming.  It was noted that these were often ex-
service users accessing their files to help them understand their past, but also 
included requests from solicitors acting on the individual’s behalf.  Officers 
explained that 35 requests for review were received compared with 22 in 2014.  
Therefore, time spent on reviews had increased from 279 hours in 2014 to 492 in 
2015. 

The committee was informed that there had been a small reduction in the number 
of Data Protection complaints received.  These related to complex service user 
cases that required considerable investigation to understand the issues in question.  
Officers explained that further improvements were as a result of the complaints, 
such as providing information on password protected disk rather than by post, to 
help prevent concerns in the event of loss or misdirection.

The Chief Internal Auditor gave assurances that effective processes were in place.  
The committee welcomed the report and congratulated officers on their efforts.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted. 

20. INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2016/17 

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) presented the Internal Audit Plan for 
2016/2017 for the committee’s consideration and approval.  It was noted that the 
principles of Risk Based Internal Auditing, were encompassed within the plan, 
which meant that officers could focus resources on providing assurance on the 
Council’s key risks and priorities.   

It was noted that to enable the plan’s development, a wide ranging consultation 
process had taken place which included meetings with Senior Management across 
the Council and parallel meetings with the Chairman of the Audit and Governance 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Committee, External Audit and Finance Managers, which, helped Internal Audit to 
establish their audit activity priorities. 

The CIA explained that Internal Audit had ongoing liaisons with key stakeholders 
throughout the year to ensure internal audit was kept informed of key changes to 
enable them to adapt their work priorities accordingly.  

The proposed activity from all sources, which included internal audit’s own risk 
assessments, were collated and prioritised based on risk between 1 and 4.  It was 
noted that 1 was the highest priority based on previous fraud/irregularity within the 
service area, change of management, policy, new contractual arrangements, 
financial value/overspends, etc.  These activities were then matched against 
internal audit’s capacity and staff resource plan, with priority 1 activities being 
allocated in the first instance and subsequently priority 2 activities.

The plan is stated in terms of estimated days input to the Council of 1625 which is 
an increase of 202 days in comparison to last years plan. This increase is due to 
the Internal Audit and Risk Management Shared Service restructure, which in 
addition to increased productivity, also achieved budgetary savings.  The Chief 
Internal Auditor explained she had the ability to commission additional internal audit 
resources via the current audit framework agreements to meet in year demand. 

In response to a question, it was explained that the ICT technical audits were 
undertaken by The Internal Audit Association (TIIA) the Council’s appointed  
external ICT auditors. This plan was developed by Internal Audit and TIIA in 
conjunction with the Director responsible for ICT and Head of ICT Service.  

The proposed plan had been presented to the Chair of the Audit and Governance 
Committee, Director of Finance, the Head of Financial Management and COMT and 
following robust challenge, had been endorsed.

Member’s attention was drawn to the summary overview of the plan, which 
highlighted the allocation of audit resource per category of review and functional 
service areas.   It was noted that this year’s plan had been based on the Council’s 
current risk profile and change agendas. 

There was a proportional split based on risk, between each of the service areas to 
enable the provision of an annual audit opinion, after taking into consideration other 
assurance providers to avoid duplication. However, continued focus had been 
directed to Adult Services and procurement/contracts due to the risk profile, and 
fraud and irregularity work, due to an increase in referrals.

Members felt that it was a very ambitious plan, the CIA explained that due to the 
ongoing organisational changes, Internal Audit would continue to review the 
planned activity particularly following the stakeholder meetings to ensure the audit 
resources continue to be directed accordingly throughout the year. It was therefore 
very important that the plan was dynamic and flexible to meet any required 
changes. All changes to the plan would be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee.  

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

In response to a question, members were informed that the CIA had principal 
auditors who specialised in certain service areas and were actively involved in the 
development of the plan.  It was noted that the principal auditors had ongoing 
dialogue with Directors and Heads of Service throughout the year, to ensure that 
the audit resources continued to be directed accordingly.    

The CIA explained that detailed terms of reference including the scope of the 
review were agreed with the client prior to the commencement of each review. 
It was noted that where a limited assurance opinion on control during 2015/2016 
had been provided, as such follow up reviews were included within this years  plan 
to review managements actions taken to address the risks identified.

Members commended officers on the planning approach undertaken and 
expressed how pleased they were with the Internal Audit Plan.   

Resolved 

That the committee approved the Internal Audit Plan.  

21. INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY PROGRESS REPORT 2015/16 

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor presented the report.  The purpose of the 
report was to inform members of the progress of the internal audit activity in relation 
to the 2015/2016 Internal Audit Plan, including the opinions provided on risk and 
control.  

Members were informed of the progress made in relation to those audits 
undertaken during the period January – March 2016.  Officers were pleased to 
report that all 106 recommendations made by internal audit to improve the control 
environment during this period, had been accepted by management. 

Members were referred to the graphical summary of the opinions on risk and 
control provided during April 2015 to March 2016. This showed an overall 
satisfactory and above rating of 70% on control and 97% on risk. The CIA informed 
the committee that 30% of the opinions on control were limited. It was noted that 
this was possibly related to transformational change, the continued focusing of 
activity on the key risks of the Council and specific requests from Directors, who 
were asking for areas to be reviewed where issues had arisen or where 
independent assurance was required.  This proactive action was seen by members 
as positive as this further enhances good governance within the Council.  

The Chief Internal Auditor drew member’s attention to the three limited assurance 
opinions provided on both risk and control relating to the Adult Services Financial 
Assessment and Benefits Team, Adults/Public Health/Finance – Active Together 
Grant and Strategic Finance – Capital Virements.   The committee noted that 
recommendations were made to improve the control environment, all of which were 
accepted by management.  

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

In response to a question, members were informed that in relation to the Financial 
Assessment Benefits (FAB) Team, issues related mainly to staff sickness and 
performance, therefore creating backlog which had an acculumative impact on the 
team.  It was also noted that there had been a problem with collection and 
recording of data on an excel spreadsheet.  

Tina Reid, Operations Lead: Adult Social Care and Business Development 
explained that consequently information had been lost in translation, however this 
issue had now been overcome and the service was moving forward.  The 
committee noted that the FAB team would be moving to a new system for financial 
transactions in due course. 

The committee noted that Internal Audit would monitor their implementation, 
however, it was agreed that the relevant senior management attends the June 
meeting of the Committee to provide an update on the action taken in relation to 
each recommendation made within each of the three limited assurance reports. 

Resolved 

That the relevant senior management attend the next meeting of the 
Committee to provide an update on the actions taken in relation to the three 
limited assurance reports.

That the committee noted the report.

22. REPORTS FROM INTERNAL AUDIT ON LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORTS 

Death and Discharges Audit - Tina Reid, Operations Lead for Adult Social Care 
presented the report in detail.  

It was explained that the focus of this review was limited to the systems and 
processes currently operated within the Commissioning Personalisation Adults and 
Children’s (CPAC) and Disability Commissioning (DC) teams. The objective was to 
review the effectiveness of the current systems and processes in place for the 
receipt of notification of a service user’s death or discharge from permanent care 
and that there is a sound control environment for promptly updating the Council’s 
Electronic Social Care Record (ERIC).  

Members were informed that the demand for external care services for adults within 
Gloucestershire over recent years had placed significant pressure upon the 
Council’s Adult Services external care budget. The largest pressure resided with 
the budget for older people and people with physical disabilities. This budget has 
been reported as an overspend for a number of years and continued to be under 
significant pressure this financial year. The cost of reported deaths and discharges 
for older people and people with disabilities represents on average more than 20% 
of the actual annual spend on external care.

Officers explained that notifications of a service user’s death could be received into 
the Council through various pathways, such as: the Customer Services Contact 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Centre; the Registrars Service, “Tell Us Once” system; notification from a family 
member/representative into a service area and provider notification either direct to, 
the Commissioning Personalisation Adults and Children’s (CPAC) team or the 
Disability Commissioning (DC) team.

Members welcomed the change of culture and praised officers on their efforts.  It 
was explained that the registration service was unable to pass details over to the 
service without the families consent, as data protection laws applied. It was 
suggested that registrars should be reminded to promote the “Tell Us Once” service 
as this would help families with the difficult process and prevent upsetting letters 
being sent to recover over payments.   Officers explained that this was done as 
sensitively as possible.  

The Operations Lead welcomed the robust challenge by auditors and felt the 
opportunity to have a open and honest discussion was beneficial for all.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.

Business Service Centre (BSC) – Payroll 

Cheryl Chambers, Head of Business Service Centre presented the report in detail.  

It was noted that in April 2015, Internal Audit (IA) was advised by the Director of 
Finance of an incident where the contributions, for a senior member of staff 
deducted from their March 2015 pay, were twice the amount that they should have 
been. Officers explained that IA was asked to investigate this matter, to give 
assurance that it had not impacted on other employees and that corrective action 
had been taken. As a result of this request this investigation was included within the 
scope of this audit.

In response to a question, the CIA reassured the committee that actions had been 
addressed during the course of the audit.  The Head of Business Service Centre 
welcomed Internal Audit approach and advice.  It was noted that 20 of the 21 
recommendations had been completed to date.  The outstanding recommendation 
related to the SAP system.  Members were advised of the impact SAP patch testing 
and noted that robust testing had now taken place.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.  

23. INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 2016- 18 

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor presented the report in detail. 

The Internal Audit Charter sets out the role, responsibility, status and authority of 
Internal Auditing within Gloucestershire County Council, and outlined the scope of 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

internal audit activity in line with the Account’s and Audit Regulations 2015 and the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 2013 (PSIAS).  The committee discussed 
and approved the Internal Audit Charter.

Resolved 

That the committee approved the Internal Audit Charter.  

24. INTERNAL AUDIT CODE OF ETHICS 2016 - 18 

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor presented the report.  The report  set out 
the Internal Audit Code of Ethics which was a statement of principles and 
expectations governing the behaviour of individuals in the conduct of internal 
auditing as mandated by the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards 2013.  The 
committee discussed and welcomed the report.  

Resolved 

That the committee approved the Internal Audit Code of Ethics.  

25. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

26. EXEMPT INTERNAL AUDIT LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORTS 

The committee received and discussed the reports in detail. 

 Resolved 

 That the reports be noted.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.50 pm

Page 10



Audit & Governance Committee – 15th April 2016

Topic Action Responsibility Progress
1 GRANT THORNTON 

AUDIT PLAN FOR GCC 
& PENSION FUND

The committee wanted reassurance concerning 
the audit and governance arrangements in 
relation to the Health and Wellbeing Board.  It 
was agreed that this issue would be referred to 
OSMC.  

Jane Burns OSMC Lead Members have been 
made aware of the comments 
made by the Audit and Governance 
Committee regarding the Health 
and Wellbeing Board. The 
Committee understand that the 
council has not delegated any 
executive decision making powers 
to the Health and Wellbeing Board 
so the arrangements are as per any 
other council committee. In 
addition, Gloucestershire Health 
and Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee can scrutinise the work 
of the Board. 

With regards to the specific 
comments made regarding the 
Better Care Fund, members can be 
assured that internal audit 
considered this area in detail in the 
previous year and the Health and 
Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee received an item on it at 
its May meeting.

216. INTERNAL AUDIT 
ACTIVITY PROGRESS 
REPORT 2015/16 

That the relevant senior management attend the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an 
update on the actions taken in relation to the 
three limited assurance reports.   

Theresa Mortimer Next committee meeting: 24th June 
2016

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee  

Gloucestershire County Council 

Progress Report and Update  

Year ended 31 March 2016 
June 2016 

Elizabeth Cave 

Director 

T 0117 305 7885 

E  liz.a.cave@uk.gt.com 

Terry Tobin 

Senior Manager 

T 0121 232 5276 

E  terry.p.tobin@uk.gt.com 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 4



Audit Committee progress report and  update – Gloucestershire County Council 

2 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be 

reported to you as part of our audit process. It is not a comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may 

be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may 

affect your business or any weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your 

benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. We do not accept any 

responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content 

of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose. 

P
age 14



Audit Committee progress report and  update – Gloucestershire County Council 

3 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Introduction 

Members of the Audit and Governance Committee can find further useful material on our website www.grant-thornton.co.uk, 

where we have a section dedicated to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications: 

• Innovation in public financial management (December 2015); www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-

in-public-financial-management/ 

• Knowing the Ropes – Audit Committee; Effectiveness Review (October 2015); 

www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/ 

• Making devolution work: A practical guide for local leaders (October 2015) 

www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/ 

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to receive 

regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or Engagement 

Manager. 

This paper provides the Audit  and Governance 

Committee with a report on progress in delivering our 

responsibilities as your external auditors.  

P
age 15

http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/


Audit Committee progress report and  update – Gloucestershire County Council 

4 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Progress at March 2016 

2015/16 work Planned Date Complete? Comments 

Fee Letter  
We are required to issue a 'Planned fee letter for 2015/16' by the 

end of April 2015 

 

 

 

 

Yes 

 

The 2015/16 fee letter was issued in April 2015 

Accounts Audit Plan 
We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the 

Council setting out our proposed approach in order to give an 

opinion on the Council's 2015-16 financial statements. 

 

March 

 

Yes 

 

Our audit plan was presented to the Audit and Governance Committee 

in April. 

Interim accounts audit  
Our interim fieldwork visit plan included: 

• updated review of the Council's control environment 

• updated understanding of financial systems 

• review of Internal Audit reports on core financial systems 

• early work on emerging accounting issues 

• early substantive testing 

• Value for Money conclusion risk assessment. 

 

January - 

February and April 

 

Yes Our interim audit work is complete. This included early audit testing to 

support a more efficient final accounts audit. We had routine meetings 

with the Finance Team to discuss emerging accounting issues and 

discuss progress. 

Final accounts audit 
Including: 

• audit of the 2015-16 financial statements 

• proposed opinion on the Council's accounts 

• proposed Value for Money conclusion 

• review of the Council's disclosures in the consolidated accounts 

against the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 

the United Kingdom 2015/16   

 

June - July 

 

Just started  

We are planning to complete our audit fieldwork by the end of July 

2016 as part of the transition to the earlier closedown and audit cycle 

from 2018. We are working with the Finance Team to support 

improvements in accounts production efficiency and the project 

management of the audit visit. 

P
age 16



Audit Committee progress report and  update – Gloucestershire County Council 

5 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Progress at March 2016 

2015/16 work Planned Date Complete? Comments 

Value for Money (VfM) conclusion 
The scope of our work has changed and is set out in the final 
guidance issued by the National Audit Office in November 2015. 
The Code requires auditors to satisfy themselves that; "the Council 
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources". 

The guidance confirmed the overall criterion as; "in all significant 
respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it 
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to 
achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 
people". 

The three sub criteria for assessment to be able to give a 
conclusion overall are: 

• Informed decision making 

• Sustainable resource deployment 

• Working with partners and other third parties 

 

March - July 

 

In progress 

 
We have considered the potential significant risks for our VfM 
conclusion and these are referred to in the audit plan. 
 
We will carry out key document reviews and interviews to inform our 
conclusion. 
 
 

Other areas of work  
Meetings with  Members, Officers and others 

 

 

 

On-going 

We are continuing to hold regular meetings with key officers of the 

Council.   

We have run a Better Care Fund Seminar in our Taunton office which 

was attended by both the Council and the CCG 

Finance staff have attended a training session we held on final 

accounts technical issues. 

We gave a presentation of  our CFO Insights system to the Finance 

team. 

We will hold  audit committee effectiveness training at the Shire Hall on 

7th July 2016.  

 

P
age 17



Grant Thornton and 
CIPFA Publications P

age 18



Audit Committee progress report and  update – Gloucestershire County Council 

7 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally  

Fighting Fraud and Corruption 

Locally is a strategy for English local 

authorities that is the result of  

collaboration by local authorities and 

key stakeholders from across the 

counter fraud landscape . 

This strategy is the result of an intensive period of 

research, surveys, face-to-face meetings and workshops. 

Local authorities have spoken openly about risks, barriers 

and what they feel is required to help them improve and 

continue the fight against fraud and to tackle corruption 

locally. 

Local authorities face a significant fraud challenge. Fraud 

costs local authorities an estimated £2.1bn a year. In 

addition to the scale of losses, there are further 

challenges arising from changes in the wider public 

sector landscape including budget reductions, service 

remodelling and integration, and government policy 

changes. Local authorities will need to work with new 

agencies in a new national counter fraud landscape. 

The strategy: 

• calls upon local authorities to continue to tackle fraud 

with the dedication they have shown so far and to 

step up the fight against fraud in a challenging and 

rapidly changing environment 

• illustrates the financial benefits that can accrue from 

fighting fraud more effectively 

• calls upon central government to promote counter 

fraud activity in local authorities by ensuring the right 

further financial incentives are in place and helping 

them break down barriers to improvement 

• updates and builds upon Fighting Fraud Locally 2011 

in the light of developments such as The Serious and 

Organised Crime Strategy and the first UK Anti-

Corruption Plan 

• sets out a new strategic approach that is designed to 

feed into other areas of counter fraud and corruption 

work and support and strengthen the ability of the 

wider public sector to protect itself from the harm 

that fraud can cause. 

The strategy can be downloaded from 

http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-

centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally 

 

CIPFA publication 

P
age 19

http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally


Audit Committee progress report and  update – Gloucestershire County Council 

8 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Better Together:  
Building a successful joint venture company 

Local government is evolving as it 

looks for ways to protect front-line 

services. These changes are picking 

up pace as more councils introduce 

alternative delivery models to 

generate additional income and 

savings. 

'Better together' is the next report in our series looking at 

alternative delivery models and focuses on the key areas 

to consider when deciding to set up a joint venture (JV), 

setting it up and making it successful.  

 JVs have been in use for many years in local government 

and remain a common means of delivering services 

differently. This report draws on our research across a 

range of JVs to provide inspiring ideas from those that 

have been a success and the lessons learnt from those 

that have encountered challenges.  

Key findings from the report: 

• JVs continue to be a viable option – Where they have 

been successful they have supported councils to 

improve service delivery, reduce costs, bring 

investment and expertise and generate income 

• There is reason to be cautious – Our research found a 

number of JVs between public and private bodies had 

mixed success in achieving outcomes for councils 

• There is a new breed of JVs between public sector 

bodies – These JVs can be more successful at working 

and staying together. There are an increasing number 

being set up between councils and wholly-owned 

commercial subsidiaries that can provide both the 

commercialism required and the understanding of the 

public sector culture. 

Our report, Better Together: Building a successful joint 

venture company, can be downloaded from our website: 

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/build

ing-a-successful-joint-venture-company/ 

 

Grant Thornton reports 

P
age 20

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/


GRT102468 

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 23

Agenda Item 5



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Audit and Governance Committee

24th June 2016
Title of 
Report

Treasury Management Annual Report 2015/16

Purpose of 
Report 

Each year the Council produces an Annual Report covering its 
Treasury Management activities for the previous year. The Annual 
Report is submitted each year to the Audit and Governance 
Committee to allow greater scrutiny under the Treasury Management 
Code.  

Recommend
ations To consider the Treasury Management Annual Report 2015/16.

Officers
Jo Walker: Strategic Finance Director (01452) 328469
Joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker: Head of Financial Management (01452) 328999
Paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Kathryn Oakey: Finance Manager (01452) 328915
Kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 29

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

                        Treasury Management Annual Report 2015/16

REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background

Gloucestershire County Council’s (the Council’s) treasury management activity is 
underpinned by CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code), which 
requires local authorities to produce annually Prudential Indicators and a Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement on the likely financing and investment activity.  The 
Code also recommends that members are informed of treasury management activities 
at least twice a year.  To comply with this requirement the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy is agreed annually by full Council 
as part of the budget setting process, and scrutiny of this, a Mid Year Report, and the 
Annual Report is delegated to the Audit and Governance Committee.  

Treasury Management is defined as: “The management of the local authority’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 

Overall responsibility for treasury management remains with the Council.  No treasury 
management activity is without risk; the effective identification and management of risk 
is integral to the Council’s treasury management objectives.  

The Council has invested substantial sums of money during the year and is therefore 
exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk are 
therefore central to the Council’s treasury management strategy. 

This report covers treasury activity and the associated monitoring and control of risk. A 
glossary is provided at Appendix A due to the technical terms and acronyms associated 
with treasury activity.

2. Economic Overview

Treasury Management activities at the Council are driven by the prevailing economic 
conditions.  A summary of these conditions over the financial year, provided by our 
Treasury Management advisors, is as follows:

 Growth and Inflation:  The UK economy slowed in 2015 with GDP growth 
falling to 2.3% from a robust 3.0% the year before.  CPI inflation hovered around 
0.0% through 2015 with deflationary spells in April, September and October 
2015. The prolonged spell of low  inflation was attributed to the continued 
collapse in the price of oil from $67 a barrel in May 2015 to just under $28 a 
barrel in January 2016, the appreciation of sterling since 2013 pushing down 
import prices and weaker than anticipated wage growth resulting in subdued unit 
labour costs.  CPI picked up to 0.3% year/year in February, but this was still well 
below the Bank of England’s 2% inflation target.

Page 30



3

 Labour Market:  The labour market continued to improve through 2015 and in 
Q1 2016, the latest figures (Jan 2016) showing the employment rate at 74.1% 
(the highest rate since comparable records began in 1971) and the 
unemployment rate at a 12 year low of 5.1%.  Wage growth has however 
remained modest at around 2.2% excluding bonuses, but after a long period of 
negative real wage growth (i.e. after inflation) real earnings were positive and 
growing at their fastest rate in eight years, boosting consumers’ spending power.

 UK Monetary Policy:  The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee 
(MPC) made no change to policy, maintaining the Bank Rate at 0.5% (in March 
2016 it entered its eighth year at 0.5%) and asset purchases (Quantitative 
Easing) at £375bn. In its Inflation Reports and monthly monetary policy meeting 
minutes, the Bank was at pains to stress and reiterate that when interest rates 
do begin to rise they were expected to do so more gradually and to a lower level 
than in recent cycles.

 Market reaction:  From June 2015 gilt yields were driven lower by the a 
weakening in Chinese growth, the knock-on effects of the fall in its stock market, 
the continuing fall in the price of oil and commodities and acceptance of 
diminishing effectiveness of central bankers’ unconventional policy actions.   
Added to this was the heightened uncertainty surrounding the outcome of the UK 
referendum on its continued membership of the EU as well as the US 
presidential elections which culminated in a significant volatility and in equities 
and corporate bond yields.  

10-year gilt yields moved from 1.58% on 31/03/2015 to a high of 2.19% in June 
before falling back and ending the financial year at 1.42%.  The pattern for 20-
year gilts was similar, the yield rose from 2.15% in March 2015 to a high of 
2.71% in June before falling back to 2.14% in March 2016.  The FTSE All Share 
Index fell 7.3% from 3664 to 3395 and the MSCI World Index fell 5.3% from 
1741 to 1648 over the 12 months to 31 March 2016. 

3. Borrowing / Debt Management  

The Council has a fully funded capital programme and there were no new long term 
borrowing requirements for 2015/16, with all new schemes being funded in full from 
grants, revenue contributions to capital outlay or contributions.  

In February 2016 the Council approved a change in the methodology for calculating its 
Minimum Revenue Provision – this is the amount which must be charged to the 
revenue account each year and set aside to be used for capital financing cost. This 
resulted in a revenue saving of £4 million per year – see Council meeting papers of 17th 
February for full details.

The Council’s strategy continues to be to reduce debt. In 2015/16 the Council’s Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR) – the total borrowing required to support the approved 
capital programme – reduced from £326.3m to £317.6m (a reduction of £8.7m). This 
resulted in a negative internal borrowing figure because the reduction in required 
borrowing (as measured by the CFR) was more than the debt that matured in 2015/16. 
Future debt repayments will bring this figure back into balance. A graph of the maturity 
profile of our external loans is shown in Appendix B.  

Page 31



4

The opening and closing external borrowing portfolio (including PFI liabilities brought on 
balance sheet) is summarised below: 

Balance on 
31/3/2015

Debt 
Maturing

Debt 
Prematurely 

Repaid

New 
Borrowing

Balance on 
31/3/2016 Avg Rate 

£m £m  £m £m £m %
Fixed rate loans – PWLB 262.525 4.863 0.000 0.000 257.662 5.27

Variable rate loans – PWLB 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00

Fixed rate loans – Market 41.050 0.000 0.000 0.000 41.050 4.38

TOTAL BORROWING 303.575 4.863 0.000 0.000 298.712 5.14

Other Long Term Liabilities 21.480 0.537 0.000 0.000 20.943
TOTAL EXTERNAL DEBT 325.055 5.400 0.000 0.000 319.655
Internal Borrowing 1.275 3.337 -2.062
Total Borrowing Requirement 326.330 317.593
Increase/ (Decrease) in Borrowing £m (8.737) 0.000

Notes to table;

 Fixed Rate Market Loans (LOBOs):  The Council holds £41.05m of LOBO 
loans where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate 
at set dates, following which the Council has the option to either accept the new 
rate or to repay the loan at no additional cost.  All of these LOBOS had options 
during the year, none of which were exercised by the lender.  

 Public Works Loans Board (PWLB):  The PWLB continued to operate a 
spread of approximately 1% between “premature repayment rate” and “new 
loan” rates so the premium charge for early repayment of PWLB debt remained 
relatively expensive for the loans in the Council’s portfolio and therefore 
unattractive for debt rescheduling activity.  No rescheduling activity was 
undertaken as a consequence. The only debt repaid during the 2015/16 was the 
debt that matured in year.

 Other Long Term Liabilities; these are liabilities associated with the Council’s 
PFI schemes. Under current accounting regulations the Council must show PFI 
liabilities as part of the total debt of the Council. The schemes include a Fire 
Joint Training Centre, four new Fire Stations and a Community Life Skills Centre.  

 Average cost of Borrowing: the average cost of borrowing was 5.14% in 
2015/16 – compared to 5.21% in 2014/15. This rate is significantly higher than 
the rate of return achieved on investments but reflects the mix of long term loans 
taken out to reduce the risk associated with short term interest rate volatility.

Page 32



5

4. Investment Activity 

The Council held significant invested funds during 2015/16 - this represented grant 
income received in advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 
2015/16 the Council’s investment balances have varied, and the summary below shows 
the number of loans made by the Council during the year, together with the value of the 
loans made and durations.

Total number of loans made to 31 March 2016 222
Daily range £0.08m to £17.3m
Total value of loans made to 31 March 2016 £916m
Maximum value per term loan made (non call) £5.0m
Maximum value of loans made (Call) £17.3m
Periods Overnight to 5 years

Recent legislative changes have resulted in unsecured institutional investors in EU 
banks being exposed to increased risk because of the new requirement for depositors 
to forfeit part of their investment to “bail in” a failing banks before taxpayers are called 
to bail it out.  

In order to protect investment balances the Council has been moving to more secure 
investments.  During the year two Treasury Bills have been purchased and a number of 
longer term deals have been made with other local authorities, to take advantage of the 
better rates on offer and the greater security offered by these counterparties.  A 
covered floating rate note with a duration of 3 years has been purchased and two 
covered bonds with durations of 6 months have been purchased.  These “covered” 
investments are secured on the bank’s assets, which limits the potential losses in the 
unlikely event of insolvency, and means that the deposit is exempt from bail-in.  

The Guidance on Local Government Investments in England gives priority to security 
and liquidity and the Council’s aim is to achieve a yield commensurate with these 
principles. 

During 2015/16 treasury management has been conducted according to the Policy 
Statement approved by the County Council in February 2015.  The approved 2015/16 
strategy was one of minimising risk and ensuring liquidity above investment returns in 
line with the revised investment guidance. 

All investments made during the year complied with the Council’s agreed Treasury 
Management Strategy, Prudential Indicators, Treasury Management Practices and 
prescribed limits.  Maturing investments were repaid to the Council in full and in a timely 
manner.  

Page 33



6

Short term Investments (call 

accounts, deposits)

- Banks and Building Societies 

with ratings of A- or higher 161.3 185 -245 101.3 0.7

- UK Government 0 2 0 2.0 0.5

- Local Authorities 10 22 -25 7.0 0.6
-  Corporate Bonds/ FRN 

(secured) 0 5.2 0 5.2 0.9

Long term Investments

- Banks and Building Societies 

with ratings of A- or higher 2.2 0 0 2.2 3.2

- CCLA Property Fund 10 5 0 15.0 5.0

-  Corporate Bonds/ FRN 

(secured) 0 8.3 0 8.3 1.1

- Local Authorities 29 35 0 64.0 1.7

Money Market Funds 7.3 483.7 -470.3 20.7 0.5

Other Pooled Funds 30 20 0 50.0 0.9

Other organisations (e.g. loans 

to small businesses) 0.1 0 0 0.1 5.5

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 249.9 275.8
Increase/ (Decrease) in 

Investments £m 25.9

Avg Rate 

(%) Investments

Maturities/ 

Investments 

Sold £m

Balance on 

30/03/2016  

£m

Investments 

Made        

£m

Balance on 

01/04/2015 

£m

a) Credit Risk

The transposition of two European Union directives into UK legislation placed the 
burden of rescuing failing EU banks disproportionately onto unsecured institutional 
investors which include local authorities and pension funds.  During the year, all three 
credit ratings agencies reviewed their ratings to reflect the loss of government support 
for most financial institutions and the potential for loss given default as a result of new 
bail-in regimes in many countries.  Despite reductions in government support many 
institutions saw upgrades due to an improvement in their underlying strength and an 
assessment that that the level of loss given default is low.

The Council also receives regular correspondence from its Treasury Advisors on credit 
risk. This advice along with credit agency ratings is taken into account before any 
investments are made.  The 2015/16 treasury strategy determined that the minimum 
long-term counterparty credit rating were A-/A-/A3 across the three major rating 
agencies (Fitch, S&P and Moody’s.)  

Page 34



7

The Council’s counterparty credit quality was maintained during 2015/16 as 
demonstrated by the Credit Score Analysis summarised below.  The table in Appendix 
C explains the credit score. 

Date Value 
Weighted 
Average 

Credit Risk 
Score

Value 
Weighted 
Average 

Credit Rating

Time 
Weighted 
Average 

Credit Risk 
Score

Time 
Weighted 
Average 

Credit Rating

Average 
Life 

(days)

31/03/2015 4.68 A+ 3.15 AA 271

30/06/2015 4.18 AA- 2.88 AA 314 

30/09/2015 3.97 AA- 2.90 AA 297

31/12/2015 3.88 AA- 2.71 AA 436

31/03/2016 3.91 AA- 2.49 AA+ 432

b) Mix of Investments

Interest rate risk and counterparty risk are managed by varying deposit duration and 
having a mix of counterparties. The table below shows a comparison between the 
position at the end of 2014/15 and the position at the end of 2015/16.

Average Length of investments
At 31/3/15 

%
At 31/3/16 

%
Less than 1 month (including Call) 15.1 26.0
Between 1 to 3 months 46.9 29.2
Between 3 to 6 months 14.2 9.2
Between 6 to 12 months 8.1 3.7
Over 12 months 15.7 31.9
Total 100.0 100.0

Investments by type of institution
At 31/3/15 

%
At 31/3/16 

%
Building Societies 10.5 5.9
UK Banks 22.2 13.5
Other Local Authorities 15.8 26.0
Covered Instruments 0.0 4.9
Call Accounts 0.1 0.1
Money Market Funds (MMF’s) 2.9 7.6
Non UK Banks 20.3 7.3
Notice Accounts 24.2 29.2
Property Fund 4.0 5.5
Total 100.0 100.0

During 2015/16 the Council has reduced exposure to unsecured investments in banks 
and building societies, and increased exposure to other local authorities.  A number of 
covered instruments have also been placed, providing additional security.  The number 
of notice accounts has been increased, in particular placing deposits in highly rates 
pooled funds, which can provide higher returns due to the lengthened duration of 
deposits.

Page 35



8

c) Return on Investments

The Council sought to optimise returns commensurate within its objectives of security 
and the need to maintain sufficient liquidity.

The UK base rate was stable during 2015/16 remaining at 0.5% throughout the year 
and as a result short term money market rates remained at very low levels (as shown in 
the table in Appendix C) which had a significant impact on investment income.  Income 
earned on longer-dated deposits provided some cushion against the low interest rate 
environment. 

The average cash balances representing the Council’s reserves and working balances 
were £287.7m during the period. The interest earned on these balances was 
£3.31million (compared to a budget of £1.69 million).
  

5. Compliance with Prudential Indicators

The Council can confirm that it has complied with its Prudential Indicators for 2015/16, 
which were set in February 2014 as part of the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement (which can be accessed through the following link: 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/budget ).  Details can be found in Appendix D.

In compliance with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice this report provides 
members with a summary report of the treasury management activity during 2015/16.  
None of the Prudential Indicators have been breached and a prudent approach has 
been taken in relation to investment activity with priority being given to security and 
liquidity over yield.

6. Investment Training

Training was undertaken for members in December 2015.  This was provided in house 
by treasury team members.  Officers ensure that they are kept up to date on treasury 
related matters and training and attendance at updates with the Council’s advisors is 
undertaken as appropriate.  

Page 36

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/budget


9

Appendix A
GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

Basis Point
A measure of percentage where 1 basis point is equivalent to 0.01%.

Call Account
A bank account with instant access to funds held on deposit.

Capital Financing Requirement
The total borrowing required by the Council to support the Capital programme.

Certainty Rate
A borrowing rate offered by the PWLB at 20 basis points below normally available 
rates.

Certificate of Deposit (CD)
A savings certificate entitling the bearer to receive interest.  A CD bears a maturity date, 
a specified fixed interest rate and can be issued in any denomination, although the 
Council only trades in sterling.  A CD can be sold before maturity.

CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
Leading professional accountancy bodies in the UK and the only one which specialises 
in the public services. 

Credit Default Swap (CDS)
A credit default swap (CDS) is a financial swap agreement that the seller of the CDS 
will compensate the buyer in the event of a loan default or other credit event.

Custody Account
A facility to enable the Council to access alternative investments instruments that 
require specialist electronic settlement systems.

Debt Management Office (DMO)
An Executive Agency of Her Majesty's Treasury. The DMO's responsibilities include 
debt and cash management for the UK Government, lending to local authorities and 
managing certain public sector funds. 

Discount
A deductable sum - calculated on normal actuarial principles – which a lender pays to 
the Council if a loan is repaid early and if interest rates are presently higher than the 
loan rate. The discount reflects the gain to the lender of foregoing the remaining 
instalments of interest, and receiving funds which have to be re-invested at current 
interest rates.
 
Funding for Lending Scheme
The Bank and HM Treasury launched the Funding for Lending Scheme (FLS) on 13 
July 2012. The FLS is designed to incentivise banks and building societies to boost 
their lending to the UK real economy.  It does this by providing funding to banks and 
building societies for an extended period, with both the price and quantity of funding 
provided linked to their lending performance.

Page 37

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Swap_(finance)
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Default_(finance)
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Credit_event


10

GDP
Gross Domestic Product.

Gilt
Long term fixed income debt security (bond) issued by the UK Government and traded 
on the London Stock Exchange

LAMIT
Local Authority Mutual Investment Trust.

LOBO (Lender’s Option / Borrowers Option)
Money Market instruments that have a fixed initial term (typically one to ten years) and 
then move to an arrangement whereby the lender can decide at pre-determined 
intervals to adjust the rate on the loan. At this stage the borrower has the option to 
repay the loan. 

London Inter-Bank Bid Rate (LIBID)
The interest rate at which major banks in London are willing to borrow (bid for) funds 
from each other. 

Minimum Revenue Provision
The minimum amount which must be charged to an authority’s revenue account each 
year and set aside towards repaying borrowing

Money Market
The term applied to the institutions willing to trade in financial instruments. It is not a 
physical creation, but an electronic/telephonic one. 

PFI Liabilities
A requirement under current accounting standards to include all Private Financing 
arrangements within the borrowing requirement, to reflect the additional liability on THE 
COUNCIL from these schemes.

Pooled Fund
Investments are made with an organisation who pool together investments from other 
organisations and apply the same investment strategy to the portfolio. Pooled fund 
investments benefit from economies of scale, which allows for lower trading costs per 
pound, diversification and professional money management.

Premium 
An additional sum - calculated on normal actuarial principles – which the authority pays 
to a lender if a loan is repaid early and if interest rates are presently lower than the loan 
rate. The premium reflects the loss to the lender of foregoing the remaining instalments 
of interest, and receiving funds which have to be re-invested at current interest rates. 

Prudential Indicator
Indicators set out in the Prudential Code that calculates the financial impact and sets 
limits for treasury management activities and capital investment.

Page 38



11

PWLB – Public Works Loan Board
An independent statutory body operated within the Debt Management Office, which is 
able to meet all of a local authority’s needs for long-term borrowing. The PWLB is 
prepared to lend to authorities who act prudently and comply with all relevant 
legislation. 

RISK: 
Credit and counterparty risk 
The risk of failure by a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations to the 
organisation under an investment, borrowing, capital, project or partnership financing, 
particularly as a result of the counterparty’s diminished creditworthiness, and the 
resulting detrimental effect on the organisation’s capital or current (revenue) resources.
 
Liquidity risk 
The risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective management 
of liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the organisation’s 

Interest Rate risk 
The risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective management 
of liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the organisation’s 
business/service objectives will be thereby compromised. 

Refinancing risk 
The risk that maturing borrowings, capital, project or partnership financings cannot be 
refinanced on terms that reflect the provisions made by the organisation for those 
refinancings, both capital and current (revenue), and/or that the terms are inconsistent 
with prevailing market conditions at the time. 

Legal Risk 
The risk that the organisation itself, or an organisation with which it is dealing in its 
treasury management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or 
regulatory requirements, and that the organisation suffers losses accordingly. 

Operational Risk 
The risk that an organisation fails to identify the circumstances in which it may be 
exposed to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its 
treasury management dealings, and fails to employ suitable systems and procedures 
and maintain effective contingency management arrangements to these ends. It 
includes the area of risk commonly referred to as operational risk. 

Market Risk 
The risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums an 
organisation borrows and invests, its stated treasury management policies and 
objectives are compromised, against which effects it has failed to protect itself 
adequately.

Stable Net Asset Value Money Market Funds
The principle invested remains at its invested value and achieves a return on 
investment.

Voluntary Revenue Provision
Any amount set aside to reduce the Capital financing Requirement over and above the 
MRP.

Page 39



12

Appendix B

Loan Profile 2015/16

Although the spread of borrowing is generally smooth there are a number of peaks.  
The peak in 2051/52 is because there are three loans maturing, one of which is for 
£15m.  The peak in 2077/78 is the final date of maturity for a number of LOBOs loans.  
Note that LOBO loans are shown at maturity rather than the earliest call (option) date.  

Page 40



13

Appendix C

Economic and Money Market Data, PWLB Rates 

The average, low and high rates correspond to the rates during the financial year rather than those in the tables 
below.  Note that the PWLB rates below are Standard Rates. The Council is eligible for the Certainty Rate so can 
borrow at a 0.20% reduction had borrowing been required during the year.

Table 1: Bank Rate, Money Market Rates

Date Bank 
Rate

O/N 
LIBID

7-day 
LIBID

1-
month
LIBID

3-
month 
LIBID

6-
month 
LIBID

12-
month 
LIBID

2-yr 
SWAP 
Bid

3-yr 
SWAP 
Bid

5-yr 
SWAP 
Bid

01/04/2015 0.50 0.35 0.46 0.43 0.51 0.76 0.97 0.87 1.05 1.32

30/04/2015 0.50 0.35 0.48 0.43 0.52 0.74 0.98 1.00 1.21 1.51

31/05/2015 0.50 0.43 0.50 0.43 0.52 0.75 0.98 0.97 1.18 1.49

30/06/2015 0.50 0.35 0.45 0.43 0.52 0.79 0.99 1.09 1.35 1.68

31/07/2015 0.50 0.32 0.43 0.43 0.53 0.79 1.01 1.10 1.33 1.66

31/08/2015 0.50 0.42 0.40 0.43 0.54 0.82 1.02 1.03 1.24 1.61

30/09/2015 0.50 0.37 0.41 0.43 0.54 0.74 1.00 0.93 1.11 1.41

31/10/2015 0.50 0.36 0.41 0.43 0.54 0.77 1.00 0.97 1.16 1.49

30/11/2015 0.50 0.30 0.42 0.43 0.54 0.88 1.00 0.93 1.10 1.39

31/12/2015 0.50 0.43 0.35 0.43 0.54 0.76 1.01 1.09 1.30 1.58

31/01/2016 0.50 0.43 0.42 0.43 0.54 0.71 0.99 0.77 0.89 1.14

29/02/2016 0.50 0.25 0.43 0.43 0.54 0.73 0.99 0.71 0.74 0.85

31/03/2016 0.50 0.30 0.44 0.52 0.62 0.71 0.93 0.79 0.84 1.00

Average 0.50 0.38 0.45 0.43 0.54 0.76 0.99 0.96 1.14 1.43

Maximum 0.50 0.48 0.58 0.57 0.66 0.92 1.02 1.17 1.44 1.81

Minimum 0.50 0.17 0.35 0.43 0.51 0.55 0.84 0.68 0.73 0.85

Spread -- 0.31 0.23 0.14 0.15 0.37 0.18 0.49 0.71 0.96

Table 2: PWLB Borrowing Rates – Fixed Rate, Maturity Loans
Change Date Notice 

No 1 year 4½-5 yrs 9½-10 yrs 19½-20 yrs 29½-30 yrs 39½-40 yrs 49½-50 yrs

01/04/2015 127/15 1.33 2.10 2.69 3.24 3.37 3.32 3.31

30/04/2015 166/15 1.41 2.27 2.90 3.44 3.55 3.50 3.48

31/05/2015 204/15 1.44 2.26 2.90 3.44 3.54 3.48 3.45

30/06/2015 248/15 1.48 2.44 3.13 3.65 3.72 3.64 3.60

31/07/2015 294/15 1.54 2.45 3.07 3.56 3.62 3.54 3.49

31/08/2015 334/15 1.47 2.30 2.92 3.47 3.54 3.44 3.40

30/09/2015 379/15 1.44 2.19 2.79 3.42 3.50 3.42 3.39

31/10/2015 423/15 1.44 2.38 2.93 3.56 3.65 3.56 3.53

30/11/2015 465/15 1.42 2.23 2.85 3.48 3.54 3.42 3.39

31/12/2015 505/15 1.41 2.38 3.01 3.61 3.68 3.56 3.53

31/01/2016 040/16 1.24 1.96 2.62 3.28 3.37 3.23 3.20

29/02/2016 082/16 1.27 1.73 2.43 3.23 3.36 3.24 3.19

31/03/2016 124/16 1.33 1.81 2.48 3.21 3.30 3.16 3.12

Low 1.21 1.67 2.30 3.06 3.17 3.05 3.01

Average 1.41 2.20 2.85 3.46 3.54 3.45 3.42

High 1.55 2.55 3.26 3.79 3.87 3.80 3.78

Page 41



14

Table 2: Credit Score Analysis

Scoring: 

Long-Term
Credit 
Rating Score
AAA 1
AA+ 2
AA 3
AA- 4
A+ 5
A 6
A- 7
BBB+ 8
BBB 9
BBB- 10

The value weighted average reflects the credit 
quality of investments according to the size of the 
deposit. The time weighted average reflects the 
credit quality of investments according to the 
maturity of the deposit

The Council aimed to achieve a score of 7 or lower, 
to reflect the Council’s overriding priority of security 
of monies invested and the minimum credit rating 
of threshold of A- for investment counterparties. 

Page 42



Appendix D

Capital Financing Requirement

The Capital Financing Requirement is the total amount required by the Council to 
fully fund the Capital Programme.  In effect it is therefore the total borrowing 
requirement of the Council.  The outturn position for the Council’s cumulative 
maximum external borrowing requirement for 2015/16 is shown in the table below:

*Other long term liabilities are the Council’s PFI schemes. This includes a Fire Joint Training 
Centre, and 4 new Fire Stations and a Community Life Skills Centre.  Under current accounting 
regulations the Council must show these liabilities as part of the total debt of the Council.

**Reserves shown here may differ slightly to those shown in the Statement of Accounts 
following approval by Cabinet for carry forwards, which may increase the final reserves amount.

Prudential Indicator Compliance

(a) Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt 

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to set an Affordable 
Borrowing Limit, irrespective of their indebted status. This is a statutory limit which 
should not be breached.  The Council’s Affordable Borrowing Limit was £380m for 
2015/16.  This limit represents a worse case scenario for debt required and is 
calculated as the total capital financing requirement, plus the minimum revenue 
provision, plus maturing debt, and capital receipts.  Added to this is an allowance to 
cover the possibility of not being able to make monthly salary payments.  This 
allows the Council flexibility with its total borrowing requirement.

The Operational Boundary is based on the same estimates as the Authorised Limit 
but reflects the most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario without the 
additional headroom included within the Authorised Limit.  The Operational 
Boundary for 2015/16 was £352m.

There were no breaches to the Authorised Limit and the Operational Boundary 
during the year; borrowing at its peak was £325 million.  

31/03/2016
Actual

£m
CFR 317.593
Less:
Existing Profile of Borrowing 298.712

Less:
Other Long Term Liabilities* 20.943

Cumulative Maximum 
External Borrowing 
Requirement

(2.062)

Usable Reserves 149.674**
Cumulative Net Borrowing 
Requirement / (Investments)

(151.736)

Page 43



16

(b) Upper Limits for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest Rate 
Exposure 

 These indicators allow the Council to manage the extent to which it is 
exposed to changes in interest rates.  

 The upper limit for variable rate exposure allows for the use of variable 
rate debt to offset exposure to changes in short-term rates on our 
portfolio of investments.  

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
320 315 305

0 0 0 0

Upper limit for Fixed Interest 
Rate exposure
Upper limit for Variable 
Interest Rate exposure

320

(c) Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate Borrowing 

 This indicator is to limit large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to 
be replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates. 

Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate 
Borrowing

Upper 
Limit

Lower 
Limit

Actual 
Fixed Rate 

£m 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/16

Actual 
Fixed Rate 

£m 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/16

Fixed 
Rate 

Borrowing 
as at 

31/03/16

% % LOBO* PWLB %
under 12 months 25 0 41.050 4.863 15.4 Yes 
12 months and within 24 months 25 0 8.336 2.8 Yes
24 months and within 5 years 50 0 23.690 7.9 Yes
5 years and within 10 years 75 0 36.545 12.2 Yes
10 years and within 20 years 100 0 44.000 14.7 Yes
20 years and within 30 years 100 0 47.849 16.0 Yes
30 years and within 40 years 100 0 77.379 25.9 Yes
40 years and within 50 years 100 0 15.000 5.0 Yes

Compliance 
with Set 
Limits?

* Following the 2011 revision to the Cipfa Treasury Management Code LOBO loans are 
now classified in their call period and therefore for the purposes of this prudential indicator 
are classified as short term.

(d) Actual External Debt

This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet. It is the closing 
balance for actual gross borrowing (short and long-term) plus other deferred 
liabilities.  The indicator is measured in a manner consistent for comparison with 
the Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit. 

Actual External Debt as at 31/03/2016 £m
Borrowing 298.712
Other Long-term Liabilities 20.943
Total 319.655

Page 44



17

(e) Total principal sums invested for periods longer than 364 days

 This indicator allows the Council to manage the risk inherent in 
investments longer than 364 days. 

 The limit for 2015/16 was set at £100m.  

(f) Capital Expenditure

This indicator is set to ensure that the level of proposed capital expenditure 
remains within sustainable limits, and, in particular, to consider the impact on 
Council tax.

2015/16 
Updated

£m

2015/16 
Actual

£m

Capital Expenditure 75.470 67.763

Capital expenditure has been financed as follows:

Capital Financing 2015/16 
Estimate

£m

2015/16 
Actual

£m
Capital receipts & Fund 14.539 7.799
Government Grants 49.801 48.884
Revenue contributions 5.301 7.959
Capital Contributions 5.829 3.121
Total Financing 75.470 67.763
Supported borrowing 0.000 0.000
Unsupported borrowing 0.000 0.000
Total Funding 0.000 0.000
Total Financing and 
Funding

75.470 67.763

 
The table shows that the capital expenditure plans of the Council could be funded 
entirely from sources other than external borrowing.

(g) Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream

 This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications 
of existing and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion 
of the revenue budget required to meet financing costs.

 The ratio is based on costs net of investment income.

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Approved Estimate Estimate Estimate

Ratio of Financing Costs 
to Net Revenue Stream 6.25% 6.48% 6.80% 7.36%

Page 45



18

(h) Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions

 This is an indicator of affordability that shows the impact of capital 
investment decisions on Council Tax. The incremental impact is 
calculated by comparing the total revenue budget requirement of the 
current approved capital programme with an equivalent calculation of the 
revenue budget requirement arising from the proposed capital 
programme.  As the Council is fully funding the capital programme the 
impact on Council Tax is zero.

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Approved Estimate Estimate Estimate

£ £ £ £
Increase in Band D Council Tax 0.00 0.72 2.64 1.82

Incremental Impact of Capital 
Investment Decisions

(i) Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code

 This indicator demonstrates that the Council adopted the principles of 
best practice.

Adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management
THE COUNCIL approved the adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 
at its Council meeting on 24th February 2010*.

*THE COUNCIL has incorporated the changes from the revised CIPFA Code of Practice (published 
November 2011) into its treasury policies, procedures and practices.

Page 46



Audit and Governance Committee

Date: 24th June 2016 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Annual Report on Risk Management Activity 2015/16

Context The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 state that ‘a relevant authority must 

ensure that it has a sound system of internal control which includes effective 

arrangements for the management of risk’.

GCC Financial Regulations C: Risk Management and Internal Control states that 

‘The CFO is responsible is responsible for the development, monitoring and review 

of the Council’s Risk Management Policy statement and Strategy, which is approved 

by Cabinet and for reviewing the effectiveness of risk management. 

Purpose of Report: The Audit and Governance Committee’s role, (as per the Constitution), is to provide 

independent assurance on the adequacy of GCC’s Corporate Risk Management 

framework. This report provides appropriate information to enable the Committee to 

reach a judgement in this area.

Recommendations: The Committee is requested to:

 Note the Annual Report on the Corporate Risk Management arrangements in 

place during 2015/16;

 Endorse the proposals for future improvement and development set out in 

section 6 of the report; and

 Agree that on the basis of the information set out in this report, it can be 

concluded that arrangements for managing risk within the Council are sound.

Officer(s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer - Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management Shared Service 
and Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance Services
01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jo Walker – Finance Director
01452 328920
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver on effective risk management, particularly during periods of 

significant change, may have a detrimental effect on the achievement of the potential 

opportunities and adverse effects that challenge the assets, reputation and 

objectives of the Council, strategic decision making and the wellbeing of our 

stakeholders. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

ANNUAL REPORT ON RISK 
MANAGEMENT ACTIVITY 

2015-2016

Page 49



2

1. Background

It has always been important for organisations to identify and manage their risks. This view 

has been reinforced by public sector legislation i.e. Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

and National Standards i.e. ISO31000:2009 Risk Management Principles and Guidance, 

which explicitly references to authorities’ risk management arrangements. 

Risk Management is the systematic identification, analysis and economic control of 

opportunities and risks that challenge the assets, reputation and objectives of an 

organisation. 

It enables the Council to effectively manage strategic decision making, service planning and 

delivery to safeguard the well-being of its stakeholders and increases the likelihood of 

achieving its outcomes. 

Effective risk management is an essential element of good management and a sound 

internal control system, risk management being a key contributor to good governance and 

the Annual Governance Statement. 

2. Executive Summary - Key Statement
  

In October, 2014 the Council’s Liability insurers, Travelers informed the Council that they 

would be increasing the liability premium rates by at least 100% and therefore the Long 

Term Agreement with them was broken.  As this represented a significant increase in 

premium the Council’s brokers, Marsh, advised the Council to test the market and therefore 

retender the policy. 

Travelers informed the Council that the reason for the increase in premium rates was due to 

a review of their own risk profile, the outcome of which determined that they considered that 

those authorities with highways and social care responsibilities presented too high a risk to 

them.  They were very clear that the increase was not a specific reflection on 

Gloucestershire County Council’s risk profile. Other Council’s have also experienced the 

same increases.

In view of the above, the Liability Policy was tendered through the Crown Procurement 

Service Insurance Framework with the contract to be effective from 24th June, 2015.  

The contract has now been awarded on a 3 year + 2 year option which has resulted in 

annual savings of around £29k (14%) i.e. £87k over the three year period.

Page 50



3

Marsh brokers stated in their tender evaluation report ‘We believe that the investment made 

in both time and effort by Gloucestershire County Council throughout this tender process has 

been invaluable and has resulted in a positive response from the market’.  

3. Overview

3.1 Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy

The Council’s corporate Risk Management Policy and Strategy was reviewed and revised 

accordingly in 2015/16. It was approved by the Audit & Governance Committee and 

Corporate Management Team in January 2016 and by Council in February 2016. The 

revised strategy was disseminated to Members and Officers via relevant newsletter 

publications.

The Strategy clearly sets out the risk management principles and governance arrangements 

in operation within the Council and is available on Staffnet.

3.2 Risk Management Framework

Full details of the framework are available on the Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) website at 

http://staffnet/riskmanagement.

In summary, key responsibilities are as follows:-

 Lead Committee for Risk Management - The Audit and Governance Committee.

 Senior Management responsibilities – During 2015/2016 the Chief Officers 

Management Team (CoMT) continued to take ownership of Strategic Risk 

Management with each of the strategic risks being owned by a CoMT member. 

Quarterly strategic risk management reports are provided to CoMT to enable them to 

gain assurance that the Council’s strategic risks are being effectively managed. The 

Director of Strategic Finance & Waste is the Corporate Management Team member 

who is the CoMT lead, overseeing the risk management activities during 2015/16.

 Lead Member responsible for Risk Management – Cabinet Member for Finance and 

Change.

Page 51

http://staffnet/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=30677&p=0
http://staffnet/riskmanagement


4

 Operational Risk Management. The strategy requires that all staff have a role to play in 

managing risk, with risk management principles embedded into all key business 

processes. There are risk champions within both Commissioning and Delivery who 

work alongside ARA and help to embed risk management into GCC’s culture. 

 In addition, ARA work closely with other key specialist areas of risk such as Health and 

Safety, Performance, Strategy and Challenge, Insurance, Asset Management and 

Property Services and Emergency Management/Business Continuity.

3.3 Key documents, processes and initiatives which support the risk management 
process include:

 The Risk Management Toolkit & Guidance, which covers the following:

 A practical guide to Risk Management in GCC;

 Risk Management in GCC’s business planning process;

 Partnership Risk Management;

 Risk Appetite Toolkit;

 Guidance on identifying, rating and managing opportunities;

 Practical guidance on identifying risks and rating of the level of the risk;

 Templates for the recording of identified risks and opportunities, and the 

management of both;

 Practical guide to Procurement Risk Management; and

 A practical guide to Programme and Project Risk Management in GCC.

 Risk Management Training Programmes/Briefing Sessions/Workshops:

 An ‘Introduction to Risk Management’ session/quiz forms part of the Council’s 

Corporate E Learning/Induction programme. ARA continue to work with senior 

managers/project sponsors/managers across the Council to integrate risk 

management into their ‘day to day’ management arrangements; 

 Numerous risk management awareness, briefing sessions and workshops 

have been provided across the Council;

Page 52



5

 Provision of risk management advice/support in the development of risk 

registers to key Meeting the Challenge Programme/Project Boards/Teams, 

and the more complex and significant general 

programmes/projects/commissioning activities; and

 1:1 risk management advice and guidance sessions to various MtC 

Programme and Project Managers.

 Risk management is embedded into key corporate strategies, with full integration into 

the corporate performance management framework/business planning processes, 

option appraisals, commercial activity, and programme and project management 

processes;

 Risk management guidance is provided on Staffnet to enable staff to take 

responsibility for managing risk within their own working environment.

3.4 Development and implementation of a Risk Appetite Framework and Guidance

There are numerous definitions of organisational ‘risk appetite’, but it all boils down to how 

much, of what sort of risk an organisation is willing to take; the HM Treasury definition being: 

‘The amount of risk that an organisation is prepared to accept, tolerate or be exposed to at 

any point in time.’ So why do we need to determine our risk appetite? If managers are 

running the business with insufficient guidance on the levels of risk that are legitimate for 

them to take, or not seizing important opportunities due to a perception that taking on 

additional risk is discouraged, then business performance will not be maximised. At the other 

end of the scale an organisation constantly erring on the side of caution (or one that has a 

risk-averse culture) is one that is likely to stifle creativity and not necessarily encourage 

innovation, nor seek to exploit opportunities.

ARA has developed a framework to enable risk judgements to be more explicit, transparent 

and consistent. By enhancing our approach to determining risk appetite, we will be able to 

raise the Council’s capability to deliver on challenging targets to raise standards, improve 

service quality, system reform and provide more value for money.

The framework considers all levels of the business, from strategic decision making, to 

operational delivery. 

This framework was highlighted as good practice by the Council’s external auditors.

Page 53



6

3.5 Development and implementation of Opportunity Management

In addition to identifying the risks, management have always been encouraged to identify 

any opportunities that may be available when looking to achieve their business objectives. 

During 2015/2016 ARA have implemented a corporate opportunity management process, 

which compliments the existing corporate risk management arrangements. 

This enables a consistent approach to:

 identify all potential opportunities; 

 assess the viability and impact of each opportunity; 

 analyse risk versus opportunity; and

 help to inform priorities and decisions.

The approach has been well received and implemented successfully within a number of 

current key projects and has now been incorporated into the risk guidance. 

3.6 Risk Registers

In terms of the formulation and monitoring of the Strategic/Operational, 

Programme/Project/Partnership risk registers, a consistent and robust approach to 

producing such risk registers continues to be successfully embedded across the Council’s 

activities.

The risk registers are developed as part of the development and implementation of the 

Council’s Strategy, and subsequent programme/project management and business planning 

arrangements i.e. clearly identifying the key inherent and residual risks associated with the 

achievement of identified outcomes and priorities and the controls that are in place to 

manage them. (An inherent risk is a risk prior to the application of controls and a residual risk 

is the risk remaining, after applying control measures). 

In addition to an inherent and residual risk, ARA have introduced a ‘Target Risk’ within the 

operational risk and opportunity register templates. A target risk is used to help determine 

the proportional level of control to be put in place, which will vary according to 

management’s risk appetite and tolerance levels. 

Strategic Risk Register

During 2015/2016, five strategic risks were identified and added to the Strategic Risk 

Register, these being:

Page 54

http://financial-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/Risk+Tolerance


7

 Failure to protect the council's key information and data as a result of exploited 

technological vulnerabilities facilitated through malicious attack (internal or external);

 Failure of technology managed by the ICT Service impairing the council's ability to 

communicate;

 Failure to commission services resulting in the Council effectively being unable to 

deliver its strategic objectives;

 Failure to deliver outcomes of the Prevent Strategy impacting on the residents and 

businesses of Gloucestershire; and

 Failure to deliver outcomes of the Prevent Strategy impacting on the Council's 

reputation due to exposure in national media.

The Strategic Risk Register is reviewed and updated in line with the corporate performance 

monitoring and reporting frameworks, which is compliant with the Corporate Risk 

Management Strategy.

A summary of the current Strategic Risk Register is attached at Appendix 1. 

The key to Risk Rating Scores and Level of Risk are summarised below: 

Level of Risk Score Colour
Low 1 – 6 Green

Moderate 7 – 12 Amber

High 13 – 25 Red

4. Risk Management and links to Good Governance

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) has adopted a Local Code of Corporate Governance 

based upon the CIPFA/SOLACE document entitled ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 

Government’: 2012 Framework. One of the six key principles of good governance states:

‘the Council will take informed and transparent decisions, which are subject to effective 

scrutiny and managing risk’.

In order to gauge the effectiveness of the risk management arrangements operating within 

the Council, an assurance framework is in operation, which underpins the Annual 

Governance Statement. The process requires all Directors and Service Heads to provide the 

relevant assurances, via an assurance statement, that good governance is being applied 

within their service areas. The statements are also reviewed and countersigned by the 

relevant Lead Cabinet Members.

Page 55



8

One of the sections within the statement specifically relates to Risk Management and asks 

management for assurances, via a number of questions, that the Council’s Risk 

Management Strategy and principles are applied within their service areas.

The ‘Three Lines of Defence’ in effective Risk Management and Control

To enable the Council to provide reliable evidence to underpin the assessment of risk and 

control, help prioritise resources and avoid unnecessary duplication, the assurance 

statements have been further developed. Each governance section within the assurance 

statement now provides management with the opportunity to summarise the key types of 

assurance they receive and the level of reliance they place on that assurance. To assist with 

this, the Three Lines of Defence model was introduced which is a concept for helping to 

identify and understand the different sources of risk assurance. 

The Three Lines of Defence

First Line (Functions that own and manage risks)

 Operational Management Self Assessments
 Development and implementation of internal policies/procedures
 Financial management and reporting
 Management and supervisory controls 
 Operational delivery assurance
 Performance management and data quality

Second Line (Functions that oversee risks)

 Governance structures & processes (e.g. Audit and Governance Committee, 
Scrutiny)

 Risk Management
 Compliance functions (e.g. Finance, Health and Safety, Information Security)
 Quality control checks
 Internal business change reviews
 Customer care (complaints) 

Third Line (Functions that provide independent assurance on the management of 
risks)

 External Regulators (e.g. OFSTED, HMRC, CQC)
 Adjudicators/Tribunals
 External Accreditation/Certification
 Strategic partners assurance reports
 Internal /External Audit

Page 56



9

4.1 Risk Management links to Internal Audit – Risk Based Internal Auditing 

Whilst the responsibility for identifying and managing risks belongs to management, one of 

the key roles of Internal Audit (IA) is to provide independent assurance that those risks have 

been properly managed. In order to achieve this, Internal Audit within GCC, positions its 

work in the context of the Council’s own risk management framework. This approach is 

known as Risk Based Internal Auditing (RBIA). Further detail of how these two service areas 

have further enhanced these links to enable more effective contributions to the corporate 

governance framework, can be found at paragraphs 4.2 and 4.3 below. 

4.2 Risk Management links to Internal Audit - Opinion on Risk

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2013 requires Internal Audit to provide 

an independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management 

processes which management have put in place within the area under review, and that a 

sound framework of controls is in place to sufficiently mitigate those risks.

These opinions feed into the Chief Internal Auditor’s annual opinion on the overall adequacy 

and effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk management, control 

and governance, which supports the Annual Governance Statement. Therefore, on each IA 

report, an opinion is provided as to the adequacy of the controls operating within the area 

under review (which is also fully compliant with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015).

However, in order to further embed risk management and identify and implement innovative 

practice, ARA continues to work alongside the Chief Internal Auditor where it was agreed 

that each IA report would, in addition to providing an opinion on control, also provides an 

opinion as to the effectiveness of the risk management arrangements operating within the 

area under review.

Therefore, a statement continues to be provided on the levels of assurance (Substantial, 

Satisfactory, Limited) within these two areas. 

As can be demonstrated below, during 2015/2016, 97% of the audited areas rated the 

effectiveness of the risk management arrangements as satisfactory or substantial, with 40% 

rated as substantial and 57% satisfactory, with the remaining 3% obtaining a limited 

assurance opinion. 

There was one audit where a limited assurance opinion was given on risk during 2015/2016, 

this related to Payroll / LGPS New Regulations 2014 (reported to Audit and Governance 

Committee 22nd January 2016).

Page 57



10

This evidences that risk management continues to be embedded into the Council’s business 

activities. 

Please refer to paragraph 4.3 below which summarises the actions taken as to the limited 

assurance opinions.

The above has been highlighted as ‘innovative’ by CIPFA and these enhanced opinions 

have been used as a good practice case study in the CIPFA publication ‘Effective Internal 

Audit’. In addition, this was reported as a key strength by the Chartered Institute of Internal 

Auditors as part of the Internal Audit External Quality Assessment.

4.3 Risk Management links to Internal Audit – Limited Assurance Opinions

Where limited assurance opinions are given on audits deemed to be of strategic importance, 

these are reported to the Audit and Governance Committee and the relevant reports are 

provided to the Risk Champions to ensure that the risks highlighted by Internal Audit are 

placed on the relevant risk registers.

The monitoring of the implementation of the recommendations is then owned by the relevant 

manager and helps to further embed risk management into the day to day risk management 

processes. These opinions also help to inform the work priorities of Risk Management and 

Insurance Services.

Page 58



11

4.4 Risk Management links to the Corporate Performance Management Framework

Risk Management and Insurance Services continue to work alongside the Performance and 

Need Team to ensure that risk management is fully considered within the corporate 

performance management/monitoring and reporting framework.

4.5 Risk Management links to Programme/Project Management

Risk Management continues to be one of the key mandatory standards to be applied within 

the corporate programme and project governance framework.

4.6 Risk Management and links to Insurance

Insurance claims statistics and insurance advice have a valuable part to play in the risk 

management process:- 

 They can be used to demonstrate the benefits of applying risk management 

principles and raise awareness of both good and not so good processes, impacts 

and controls operating throughout the Council with the provision of ‘real life 

examples’;  

 They are used to enable the setting of key performance indicators within operational 

business plans e.g. Employer’s Liability claims;

 They highlight emerging trends and new risks to the Authority; 

 Regular updates from the Insurance Brokers and the Insurers are also used to 

identify new risks from, for example new legislation;

 Insurance advice provided by the Insurance Manager in consultation with the 

insurance brokers and insurers ensures that there is adequate cover for insurable 

risks within contracts/agreements/partnerships for example; and

 Updates are provided to the three Statutory Officers i.e. Chief Executive Officer, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to keep them aware of all key claims.

Page 59



12

5. Insurance Claims experience of main policies (Liability/Property/Motor) 
including the risk mitigation arrangements during 2015/16

5.1 Liability

Public Liability 

In 2015/16 the Council received 31 new public liability claims. This is yet another significant 

decrease from previous years (i.e. 240 in 14/15, 1034 in 2013/14) due to the transfer of 

highways claims liability and claims handling to the new contractor (see highways claims 

section below). 12 of the 31 new claims do still relate to highways claims that occurred prior 

to 01/04/2014. To date, 8 of these claims have been successfully repudiated and 4 claims 

have been paid at a cost of £8,874. The other claims have arisen from social services and 

schools.

19 claims received in the 15/16 period remain open. The majority of these claims have been 

referred to the Council’s insurers and are still being investigated. 

Highways Claims 

With effect from 1st April 2014 the Council entered into a highways contract with Amey.  

More highways functions were outsourced through the contract which included the highways 

inspections.  As the highways inspections are crucial to the defence of highways claims then 

the liability transferred to Amey via the contract together with the claims handling. Although 

some residual risk remains with the Council e.g. devising the strategic policies, overall, the 

financial risk to GCC has significantly reduced. 

This is an example of how risk can be successfully transferred to a contractor via robust 

contracts with the benefit of reducing financial risk to the Council.   

Employers Liability 

The Council received 13 new employers’ liability claims in 2015/16. 6 of these new claims 

relate to historical causes e.g. noise induced deafness, mesothelioma.  These claims are in 

the process of being investigated. Examples of the majority of the employer’s liability claims 

relate to slips, trips and falls. These claims are also still in the process of being investigated. 

Page 60



13

Risk Management of Liability Claims

The Council ‘bought out’ the excess on the Public and Employers Liability for the policy 

years 1996 – 1999. This means that any claims relating to that period will not be subject to 

the excess applicable at the time and paid in full by the insurer. The total cost of the 

premium for buying out the excess was £57,500 (Employers Liability £21,000 and Public 

Liability £36,500).  Insurance Services are currently dealing with two EL claims in respect of 

which the policy years 1996-1999 form part of the exposure period. Both claims are 

significant and whilst final costs are not yet known, it is anticipated that the costs we will be 

able to recover, associated with the policy years 1996-1999, will exceed the premium that 

we have paid. It should also be borne in mind that it is likely that there will be further claims 

where those years are relevant to the Council’s liability’.

 To mitigate the risk of significant third party solicitors’ costs, the Council’s Claims 

Investigator assesses the risks associated with the circumstances of each case as 

they arise. The mitigation process is: 

 A site visit is undertaken as soon as possible;
 Key personnel are interviewed whilst circumstances are still fresh in their 

mind;
 Identify and obtain relevant documentary evidence; 
 Be assured that potential witnesses are both available and competent to 

attend court if required; and
 An early admission of liability where no robust defence is available saves the 

Council accumulating solicitor costs.  

 Insurance Services work with the highways commissioning teams and the highways 

contractor, Amey, to monitor the claims experience of the highways claims now they 

are being dealt with by them and their insurers/claims handlers.  It is important that 

the high repudiation rate and good customer service achieved by the Council in 

previous years is maintained. To date the contractor is achieving a 90%+ repudiation 

rate.

 Claims analysis is undertaken to identify emerging risks and where possible 

mitigating action is taken;

 Members of the insurance services team attend seminars/working groups run by 

insurers/brokers/solicitors;

Page 61



14

 With robust systems in place it is difficult for any fraudulent claim to succeed as 

whatever the nature of the claim the County Council should be able to defend by 

evidencing that it has adhered to all relevant legislation / protocols /recommendations 

and code of good practice. 

 Whilst major suspected fraud is dealt with by the Council’s insurers, any suspected 

fraud on a liability claim that is being dealt with in-house, is referred to the Counter 

Fraud Specialist (Internal Audit). 

 The Council’s insurers participate in the National Fraud Initiative.

 The Insurance Manager now regularly assist the Commercial Service with the levels 

of indemnity and insurance clauses being requested in the tendering of contracts 

process. 

 Dissemination of relevant articles received from insurers/solicitors etc to appropriate 

staff.

 Employers Liability claims statistics are provided to the Health and Safety 

Committee.

 Feedback on any claims paid is disseminated (subject to data protection) to 

appropriate departments and schools so that lessons are learnt where possible.

5.2 Property

Insurance Services operate five Property policies to provide insurance for a wide range of 

perils for both the Council properties and maintained schools via the Traded Service.  

In 2015/16 Insurance Services dealt with 25 new claims totalling a value of £25,840. The 

types of claim are accidental damage (schools), theft (schools), vandalism (schools), burst 

pipes, water damage, storm and lightning.

Risk Management of Property Claims

Insurance Services work closely with Asset Management and Property Services (AMPS), 

schools and the insurers to assist with managing property risks. Some examples of recent 

actions are:

 Regular Loss Control Surveys of GCC premises/schools. 

Page 62



15

 Claims statistics are annually provided to the School Security Group.  This group is 

made up of GCC/Police/Fire and Rescue Services. The objective is to share 

information to identify hotspots; and 

 The Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 requires all scrap metal dealers to obtain a 

licence from local councils to operate. Rogue traders who buy and sell scrap metal 

for cash face a fine of £5,000. The Act also gives local authorities and police new 

powers to inspect premises where they suspect metal is being illegally traded and 

revoke licences. This will help mitigate the risk of lead being stolen from our insured 

properties.

Big Community Offer – BCO/Leased Property Policy

Insurance Services continue to work with AMPS in respect of the insurance of the Council’s 

leased/tenanted buildings by facilitating the procurement of a specific buildings policy that 

meets the needs of the tenant and mitigates the Council’s financial exposure.

5.3 Motor

Insurance services received 49 new claims relating to motor accidents involving GCC and 

schools vehicles in the period of this report.  22 claims have been paid, to date, at a cost of 

£38,199. 

Risk Management of Motor Claims

 Annual claims statistics are provided to the relevant service areas; 

 Claims analysis is undertaken to identify emerging risks and action taken, where 

possible, to mitigate the risk;

 A supplementary Risk Management information form is completed by the driver of 

the vehicles to assist with proactive risk management initiatives; and

 A company, DAS, undertake the recovery of the Council’s uninsured losses. 

5.4 Traded Services to Schools

Insurance Services do not only support the Council’s services, but are also a ‘buy back’ 

service to Gloucestershire’s maintained schools. (Insurance Services do not offer a service 

to Academies because there is not an insurable risk to the Council). 

Page 63



16

These services are deemed to be efficient and effective with a large numbers of 

compliments being received from schools, which is evidenced by the fact that 100% of 

maintained schools within the County have purchased our service during 2015/16.

Risk Management for Schools

Risk Management information is communicated to schools via:- 

 The Business Support Services webpages ;

 The Traded Service e-bulletin;

 Schoolsnet bulletin board;

 What’s up Gov;

 Heads Up;

 Attendance at the Traded Service Roadshows and ;

 Claims feedback

5.5 Actuarial review of Insurance Funds 

Insurance Services commission regular reviews of the insurance funds to ensure that there 

are adequate provisions and reserves to meet the cost of known claims and those claims 

that have not yet been received (i.e. incurred but not reported). The actuary also makes 

recommendations for annual contributions to the funds for 3 years following each review. 

The outcome of the last review was that the Council has adequate funds to meet its known 

and future claims liabilities. 

6. Future developments in 2016/2017

ARA will continue to input into the review of the strategic risk profile and the maintenance of 

the Corporate Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy and will implement various 

strategies designed to deliver a continuation of the positive outcomes detailed in this, and 

previous reports. In the context of this, a number of future developments are planned for 

2016/2017, the key actions are outlined below.

Page 64



17

6.1 Internal Audit and Risk Management Shared Service

With effect from 1st June 2015, Gloucestershire County Council (as host authority) has 

entered into a shared services collaboration agreement with Gloucester City Council and 

Stroud District Council to provide an Internal Audit and Risk Management Service (i.e. Audit 

Risk Assurance (ARA)) to all three partners. ARA will be working with the three Councils 

during 2016/2017 to identify the risk management service requirements, to ensure a quality, 

cost effective service can be provided.

6.2 Corporate Risk Management Guidance/Toolkits

During 2016/2017, the risk management guidance and associated toolkit will continue to be 

refreshed to ensure they reflect the requirements of the strategy and good governance.

6.3 Major change programme/projects

Risk Management and Insurance Services will continue to play a key role within the 

corporate programme/project governance arrangements.

6.4 Strategic Risk Register

To support CoMT with ensuring that the Strategic Risk Register continues to reflect the 

Council’s current risk profile.

6.5 Contracts/Partnership Risk Management

ARA will continue to review the Council’s key contracts/partnerships to ensure the contract 

managers are managing risk effectively and in accordance with the strategy.

7. Conclusion

On the basis of the information set out in this report, it can be concluded that arrangements 

for managing risk within the Council are sound.

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Strategic Risk Register Summary

SR1.1 Failure in corporate governance which leads to service, financial
or reputational damage or failure. Bungard, Pete High 15 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 8 Moderate 8

SR1.2 Failure to effectively understand, inform, consult or engage
customers, resulting in dissatisfaction, criticism or challenge. Burns, Jane High 20 Low 6 Low 6 Low 6 Low 6

Strategic Risk 1: Corporate Governance
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

SR2.2

The cumulative impact of service pressures, particularly 
increased demand in relation to the care of vulnerable Children 
and Adults, and the under delivery of savings plans designed to 
address the inherent over-spend positions, result in a major 
over-spend in 2015/16.

Walker, Jo High 25 High 16 High 16 Moderate 8 Moderate 8

SR2.3 Breakdown in Treasury Management arrangement leading to a
significant loss in investment balances Walker, Jo High 20 Low 4 Low 4 Low 4 Low 4

SR2.4

Reductions and changes to future funding in 2016/17 and 
2017/18, together with the late notification of such changes and 
the uncertanties relating to NHS funding make it impossible to 
set a robust and deliverable budget without impacting 
significantly on Core Services.

Walker, Jo High 25 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15
The risk in relation to 2016/17 has reduced following the settlement 
and receipt of estimated tax base figures. The 2017/18 position 
remains high risk.

Strategic Risk 2: Financial 
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

SR3.1
Failure to ensure that the council's technological environment as 
managed by the ICT Service remains fit for purpose in alignment 
with the business strategy.

Edgar, 
Stewart High 25 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

Strategic Risk 3: Infrastructure
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

P
age 67



SR3.2
Failure to protect the council's key information and data as a 
result of exploited technological vulnerabilities facilitated 
through malicious attack (internal or external)

Edgar, 
Stewart High 25 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15

In light of the recent cyber attack on Lincolnshire County Council, we 
would like to provide GCC with assurances regarding the defences 
the ICT Service has implemented to help protect council data & 
information systems against malicious attacks: Sophos Endpoint 
Security & Control is installed & operational on all council PC's & 
laptops to detect for malware & viruses; Websense email filtering 
solution scans emails for malicious content & blocks any suspect 
attachments before delivery to users; the Exchange email messaging 
solution was recently updated to better detect & block SPAM email; a 
number of key council systems & applications have been upgraded to 
minimise the impact of vulnerabilities inherent in end of life software. 
Protective monitoring tools have been implemented & the Sopra 
Steria Cyber Centre proactively monitors all alerts created & 
responds accordingly; all council systems are regularly patched & 
updated during scheduled essential maintenance weekends; the 
number of staff in the council with elevated user access rights have 
also been steadily reduced over the years to minimise the impact a 
cyber attack would have. Independent ICT Health Checks are 
regularly conducted to expose any vulnerabilities & Sopra Steria deal 
with these within a targeted remediation program.

However, technological controls are not enough and user education 
and awareness is also critical to achieving all round security. At 
Lincolnshire, the council was locked out of its systems after an email 
containing the malware was opened by one of its staff. A co-
ordinated communications campaign of user awareness should be 
initiated that advises and encourages staff to be extra vigilant when 
using ICT at the council.

SR3.3 Failure of technology managed by the ICT Service impairing the
council's ability to communicate.

Edgar, 
Stewart High 25 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15

The Next Generation Desktop rollout and replacement of end-of-life 
end user devices (Windows XP) within the Worksmart programme 
has now completed - over 4000 Windows XP devices have been 
decommissioned and along with the risk of attack, now removed 
from the council network

The migration of council email accounts from the ageing Exchange 
2007 to Exchange version 2013 has begun and is currently scheduled 
to complete in June 2016.

A resilient internet connection has now been installed at the council's 
new data centre in Corsham and work to configure the complex 
connectivity solutions is ongoing. 

The interim ICT Service management team is planning the 2016/17 
ICT strategic transformation programme to continue addressing the 
areas of under-investment in ICT that present the most risk to the 
council.

Strategic Risk 3: Infrastructure
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

P
age 68



SR4.1 Failure to deliver expected benefits/outcomes from the Residual 
waste project impacting on future budgets and the environment. Walker, Jo High 25 High 20 Moderate 12 High 15 Moderate 10 Planning Conditions approved

Strategic Risk 4: Waste Management
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

SR5.1
Failure to manage the Meeting the Challenge Portfolio 
effectively, impacting on service outcomes, customer 
satisfaction, finance and reputation.

Walker, Jo Moderate 12 Low 6 Low 6 Low 6 Moderate 9 A number of MTC2 projects are at risk of not delivering their savings 
targets. See detailed MTC2 report.

SR5.2 Failure to secure effective service delivery, impacting on our
ability to meet statutory and local requirements. Burns, Jane High 15 Low 6 Low 6 Low 6 Low 6

SR5.3 Failure to commission services resulting in the council effectively 
being unable to deliver its strategic objectives Uren, Linda High 25 Low 5 Low 5 Low 5 ? This risk is currently under review.

Strategic Risk 5: Organisational Change Programmes
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

SR6.1
Failure to maintain effective relationships with key partners and 
organisations impacting on our ability to meet statutory and 
local requirements.

Bungard, Pete High 20 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

Strategic Risk 6: Collaborative Working
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

SR7.1
Failure to protect vulnerable adults in Gloucestershire from 
abuse neglect in situations that potentially could have been 
predicted and prevented.

Willcox, 
Margaret High 20 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

SR7.2 Failure of GCC to protect CYP from abuse or neglect in situations 
that could have been predicted or prevented. Uren, Linda High 20 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15 Based on the monitoring of the operational risks, this strategic risk 

remain high due to its inherent nature.

SR7.3
Failure to meet service standards for children's services results 
in poor inspection results, impacting on ability to meet statutory 
requirements, reputation and intervention.

Uren, Linda Moderate 12 Moderate 12 High 16 High 16 High 16

The risk remains high due to continued demand and a relatively 
inexperienced workforce but recruitment and retention continue to 
improve. We mitigate this risk through oversight meetings for key 
inspection areas, regular case tracking and by encouraging practice 
learning.

SR7.4

Educational outcomes for vulnerable groups of Children & Young 
People worsen and the gap widens because of Schools and 
Academies not meeting their responsibilities to vulnerable 
groups and the accelerating costs of specialist provision.

Grills, Jo High 16 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 12

SR7.6

Implications of the implementation of the Care Act 2014 (Parts 1 
& 2)
- timeframe constraints;
- capacity to meet increased demand;
- financing of the implementation; and
- any changes in the political landscape, after the May 2015 
General Election, with regards to requirements of Part 2 of the 
Act going forward.

Willcox, 
Margaret Moderate 10 Low 3 Low 3 Low 3 ? This risk is currently under review.

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

SR8.1
Workforce skills and capacity gaps/challenges impacting on 
reduced performance, increased sickness and staff turnover and 
the reduction in the quality of service provision

Walker, Jo High 20 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Low 6 Low 6

SR8.2 Poor employee relations cause a disruption to services, lost
productivity and increased costs Walker, Jo High 20 Moderate 12 Moderate 12 Moderate 8 Moderate 8

Strategic Risk 8: Workforce Planning & Employee Relations
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

SR9.1 Failure to deliver outcomes of the Prevent Strategy impacting on 
the residents and businesses of Gloucestershire

Edgar, 
Stewart High 20 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15

The group are exploring the idea of pooling together monies provided 
by Government to districts in order to employ a Prevent Co-
Ordinator. Discussions around Prevent Training being incorporated 
into the Council's Safeguarding Training are still ongoing.

SR9.2 Failure to deliver outcomes of the Prevent Strategy impacting on 
the council's reputation due to exposure in national media

Edgar, 
Stewart High 25 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15 The multi-agency Prevent Board has a new Chairman who has 

reviewed the Strategy and identified leads for each agency.

Strategic Risk 9: Gloucestershire Prevent
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

SR10.1

Inability of the Council or a key partner to effectively respond to 
an incident or event external to the council that results in 
community disruption and failure to return to normal, within 
required timescales.

Edgar, 
Stewart High 15 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

P
age 69



SR10.2

Inability of the Council or a key partner to effectively respond to 
an incident or event that results in significant service disruption 
and failure to return to business as normal, within required 
timescales.

Edgar, 
Stewart Moderate 12 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk 

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

SR11.1

Failure to protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of 
information resulting in inefficient/ineffective service delivery by 
the Council and its partners, service interruption, harm to 
individuals, reputational damage, legal action or fines

Burns, Jane High 20 High 16 High 16 High 16 High 16

Strategic Risk 11: Information Governance
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk 

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

SR12.1

Failure of the Council/Gloucestershire to adapt to a more volatile 
climate, with rising temperatures, continually high and 
increasing energy prices and the increasing need to reduce 
carbon emissions.

Riglar, Nigel High 25 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

Strategic Risk 12: Climate Change
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk 

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

SR14.1 Emergence of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Riglar, Nigel High 20 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15

The District Councils continue to seek to introduce CILs. The JCS 
authorities are most progressed and have already had two 
consultation exercises. GCC officers will continue to engage with the 
District Councils to attempt to assure that GCC's views and 
requirements are known.

Strategic Risk 13: Community Infrastructure Levy
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk 

Q1 15/16
Residual Risk 
Q2 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q3 15/16

Residual Risk 
Q4 15/16

Direction of 
Travel Mitigating Actions for High or Changed Residual Risks

P
age 70



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 24th June 2016 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Annual Report on Internal Audit (IA) Activity 2015/16

Purpose of Report: To provide the Committee with an annual report on Internal Audit Activity 
which fully meets the Chief Internal Auditor’s annual reporting requirements, 
as set out in the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS) 2013. 

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

1. Assesses, from the findings set out in this Internal Audit Annual Report, 
whether it can take reasonable assurance that the internal control 
environment, comprising risk management, control and governance is 
operating effectively;

2. Requests senior management attendance at the next meeting of the 
Committee to provide an update on the actions taken in relation to the 
recommendations made in the limited assurance Client Contributions 
audit report; and

3. Notes that the performance of Internal Audit meets the required 
standards.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer - Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management Shared 
Service and Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance Services. 
Tel: 01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jo Walker – Finance Director
Tel: 01452 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those charged 
with governance that the key risks associated with the achievement of the 
Council’s objectives are being adequately controlled. 

Context The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 state that ‘a relevant authority 
must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its 
risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account 
Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards or guidance’.
GCC Financial Regulations C: Risk Management and Internal Control 
states that ‘The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for conducting a 
continuous internal audit in accordance with the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015.
The Audit and Governance Committee’s role is to monitor the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Internal Audit service. 

Page 71

Agenda Item 8

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

ANNUAL REPORT ON 
INTERNAL AUDIT 

ACTIVITY 2015/2016

Page 73



Appendix 1

2

(1) Introduction

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that 
“a relevant authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards (PSIAS) or guidance”. Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal 
Audit function, which sits within Strategic Finance, carries out the work required to satisfy 
this legislative requirement and reports its findings and conclusions to management and to 
this Committee.

The standards define the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established and 
undertakes its functions.

The standards also requires that an independent and objective opinion is given on the 
overall adequacy and effectiveness of the control environment, comprising risk 
management, control and governance, from the work undertaken by the Internal Audit 
Service.

Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the International 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 

(2) Responsibilities 

Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management 
processes, control systems (financial and non financial) and governance arrangements.

Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and challenge, advising 
the organisation that satisfactory arrangements are in place and operating effectively.

Internal Audit is not the only source of assurance for the Council. There are a range of 
external audit and inspection agencies as well as management processes which also 
provide assurance and these are set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance 
and its Annual Governance Statement.  

(3) Purpose of this Report

One of the key requirements of the PSIAS is that the Chief Internal Auditor should provide 
an annual report to those charged with governance, to support the Annual Governance 
Statement. The content of the report is prescribed by the PSIAS which specifically requires 
Internal Audit to:

 provide an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s 
internal control environment and disclose any qualifications to that opinion, together 
with the reasons for the qualification;

Page 74



Appendix 1

3

 compare the actual work undertaken with the planned work, and present a summary 
of the audit activity undertaken from which the opinion was derived, drawing attention 
to any issues of particular relevance;

 summarise the performance of the Internal Audit function against its performance 
measures and targets; and

 comment on compliance with the PSIAS.

When considering this report, the Committee may also wish to have regard to the quarterly 
interim Internal Audit progress reports presented to the Committee during 2015/2016 and the 
Annual Report on Risk Management Activity for 2015/2016. 

(4) Internal Audit’s Opinion on the Council’s Internal Control Environment

In providing our opinion it should be noted that assurance can never be absolute. The most 
that Internal Audit can provide is a reasonable assurance that there are no major 
weaknesses in risk management arrangements, control processes and governance. The 
matters raised in this report, and our quarterly monitoring reports, are only those that were 
identified during our internal audit work and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement 
of all the weaknesses that may exist or represent all of the improvements required.

Chief Internal Auditor’s Opinion

I am satisfied that, based on the internal audit activity undertaken during 2015/16 and 
management’s actions taken in response to that activity, enhanced by the work of other 
external review agencies, sufficient evidence is available to allow me to draw a reasonable 
conclusion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of Gloucestershire County Council’s overall 
internal control environment. 

In my opinion, for the 12 months ended 31 March 2016, Gloucestershire County Council has 
a satisfactory overall control environment, to enable the achievement of the Council’s 
outcomes and objectives. 

This opinion will feed into the Annual Governance Statement which will be published 
alongside the Annual Statement of Accounts.

(4a) Scope of the Internal Audit Opinion

In arriving at our opinion, we have taken into account:

 The results of all internal audit activity undertaken during the year ended 31st 
March 2016 and whether our high and medium priority recommendations have 
been accepted by management and, if not, the consequent risk;

 The effects of any material changes in the organisation’s risk profile, objectives or 
activities;

Page 75



Appendix 1

4

 Matters arising from internal audit quarterly progress reports or other assurance 
providers to the Audit and Governance Committee; 

 Whether or not any limitations have been placed on the scope of internal audit 
activity; and 

 Whether there have been any resource constraints imposed on internal audit 
which may have impacted on our ability to meet the full internal audit needs of the 
organisation. 

(4b) Limitations to the scope of our activity

There have been no limitations to the scope of our activity or resource constraints imposed 
on internal audit which have impacted on our ability to meet the full internal audit needs of 
the Council. Whilst the core Internal Audit service is provided in-house, during 2015/2016, 
the Chief Internal Auditor has:

 Developed and implemented a Shared Internal Audit and Risk Management Service 
with Gloucester City Council and Stroud District Council, which became effective 
from 1st June 2015; 

 Commissioned external specialist ICT audit via Warwickshire County Council’s 
Internal Audit Framework Agreement;

 Set up joint working arrangements in relation to Internal Audit, Risk Management and 
Insurance Services, with the Chief Internal Auditor at Warwickshire County Council; 

 Entered into a Service Level Agreement with Gloucestershire NHS Counter Fraud 
Service to provide support with investigations and the National Fraud Initiative 
analysis; and 

 Worked with Gloucestershire’s Counter Fraud Hub to review the options available to 
the Shared Service in respect of Counter Fraud support.

(5) Summary of Internal Audit Activity undertaken compared to that 
planned

The underlying principle to the 2015/2016 plan is risk and as such, audit resources were 
directed to areas which represented ‘in year risk’. Since the original risk based plan was 
approved in April 2015 by the Committee, a number of additional audit activities have proved 
necessary and some of the planned audits were no longer required. Variations to the plan 
are required if the plan is to adequately reflect the ongoing changing risk profile of the 
Council. The net effect is that although the work undertaken was slightly different to that 
originally planned we are able to report that we achieved 86% of the overall revised plan. 
This reflects that resources were redirected as a result of the increase in special 
investigations and irregularity work, i.e. 15 new referrals during 2015/16 and continuing to 
work on 10 referrals brought forward from 2015/15.

Page 76



Appendix 1

5

The pie charts below summarise the percentages of planned audits per service area, i.e. 
Adults, Communities and Infrastructure etc. and category of activity, i.e. fundamental 
financial systems, governance etc, compared with the percentage of actual audits 
completed. 

Page 77



Appendix 1

6

(6) Summary of Internal Audit Activity undertaken which informed our opinion

The schedule provided at Appendix 1 provides the summary of 2015/16 audits which have 
not previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee, including, very 
importantly, one limited assurance audit opinion on control.

The schedule provided at Appendix 2 contains a list of all of the audit activity undertaken 
during 2015/2016, which includes, where relevant, the assurance opinions on the 
effectiveness of risk management arrangements and control processes in place to manage 
those risks and the dates where a summary of the activities outcomes has been presented 
to the Audit and Governance Committee. Explanations of the meaning of these opinions are 
shown below. 

Page 78



Appendix 1

7

Assurance 
levels

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment

Substantial Risk Managed
Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment client/customer/partners, and staff.  All 
key risks are accurately reported and monitored in line 
with the Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 
framework of controls ensures 
that there is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved

 Control Application – Controls are 
applied continuously or with minor 
lapses

Satisfactory
Risk Aware
Service area has an awareness of the risks relating to the 
area under review and the impact that these may have 
on service delivery, other services, finance, reputation, 
legal, the environment, client/customer/partners, and 
staff, however some key risks are not being accurately 
reported and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 
framework of key controls for 
objectives to be achieved but, 
control framework could be 
stronger

 Control Application – Controls are 
applied but with some lapses

Limited
Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurately and regularly 
reporting and monitoring of the key risks in line with 
the Corporate Risk Management Strategy, the service 
area has not demonstrated an adequate awareness 
of the risks relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service delivery, other 
services, finance, reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners and staff.  

 System Adequacy – Risk of 
objectives not being achieved 
due to the absence of key 
internal controls

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in the 
application of control

Page 79



Appendix 1

8

(6a) Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control

The pie charts provided below show the summary of the risk and control assurance opinions 
provided within each category of opinion i.e. substantial, satisfactory and limited. It is 
pleasing to report that the Council is showing that 72% of the activities reviewed have 
received a substantial (15%) or satisfactory (57%) opinion on control. Whilst 28% of the 
opinions on control are limited, this maybe related to transformational change, continued 
focusing our activity on the key risks of the Council and specific requests from Directors, who 
are asking for areas to be reviewed where issues have arising or where independent 
assurance is required.

Risk and Control Opinions 2015/16 

(6b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity record that a limited assurance opinion on control has been provided, 
the Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management attendance to the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their actions taken to address the 
risks and associated recommendations identified by Internal Audit. 

(6c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on 
Control

During 2015/2016, ten limited opinions on control were provided. These related to:

Audited Service Area Date reported to Audit and 
Governance Committee

Provision of Care and Support – Extra Care 
Housing Schemes

25th September 2015

Page 80



Appendix 1

9

Gloucestershire Music Service 25th September 2015

Exempt Limited Assurance Report 25th September 2015 and 22nd 
January 2016

External Care Recovery Plan – Deaths and 
Discharges

22nd January 2016

BSC Payroll / Pensions 22nd January 2016

Capital – Virements and Delegated Powers 15th April 2016

Active Together – Healthy Together and 
Childrens Activity Fund

15th April 2016

Financial Assessment and Benefits Team 
Limited Assurance follow up

15th April 2016

Exempt Limited Assurance Report 15th April 2016

Client Contributions Adult Social Care 24th June 2016

(6d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity record that a satisfactory assurance opinion on control has been 
provided where recommendations have been made to reflect some improvements in control, 
the Audit and Governance Committee and CoMT can take assurance that improvement 
actions have been agreed with management to address these.

(6e) Internal Audit recommendations made to enhance the control environment

Year Total No. 
of high 
priority 

recs.

% of high 
priority recs. 
accepted by 
management

Total No. 
of medium 

priority 
recs.

% of medium 
priority recs. 
accepted by 
management

Total No. 
of recs. 
made

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

67

74

89

100

100

100

91

129

121

100

100

100

158

203

210

The Audit and Governance Committee and CoMT can take assurance that all high priority 
recommendations will remain under review by Internal Audit, by obtaining regular 
management updates, until the required action has been fully completed.

Page 81



Appendix 1

10

(6f) Risk Assurance Opinions

There was one audit where a limited assurance opinion was given on risk during 2015/2016, 
this related to:

Audited Service Area Date reported to Audit and 
Governance Committee

BSC Payroll / Pensions 22nd January 2016

Where limited assurance opinions on risk are provided, the relevant reports are given to the 
Risk Champions to ensure that the risks highlighted by Internal Audit are placed on the 
relevant risk registers. The monitoring of the implementation of the recommendations is then 
owned by the relevant manager and helps to further embed risk management into the day to 
day management, risk monitoring and reporting processes. 

In addition, Corporate Risk Management Team is provided with the Internal Audit reports 
where a limited assurance opinion is provided, to enable their prioritisation of risk 
management support, if deemed appropriate.

(6g) Internal Audit’s Review of Risk Management

During 2015/2016, 97% of the audited areas rated the effectiveness of risk management 
arrangements as substantial (40%) or satisfactory (57%) with 3% obtaining a limited 
assurance opinion. This evidences that risk management continues to be further embedded 
into the Council’s business activities. 

Internal Audit also undertake, on a rotational basis, specific reviews purely on the 
effectiveness of risk management arrangements, operating across all service areas, looking 
at the Strategic and Operational Performance/Business Plans and associated Risk 
Registers, to ensure that actions recorded to mitigate risks are in place and operating as 
intended. 

The risk management arrangements operating within the residual waste project is currently 
being reviewed and outcomes will be reported to the Committee during 2016/17.

The assurance statements obtained from all Directors and Service Heads across the Council 
(when formulating the Annual Governance Statement (AGS)), provided reasonable 
assurance that the majority of management fully apply the Council’s risk management 
strategy and principles within their service areas. This together with our own assessment, 
supported by the external assessments and recognition received for numerous risk 
management initiatives over past years, have led Internal Audit to conclude that the risk 
management arrangements within the authority are effective.

Page 82



Appendix 1

11

(6h) Gloucestershire County Council’s Corporate Governance Arrangements

The Council is required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 to prepare and publish an 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The AGS is signed by the Leader, Chief Executive and 
the Chief Financial Officer and must accompany the Annual Statement of Accounts. In 
England, the CIPFA/SOLACE framework ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
2012 is defined as ‘proper practices’ status by the DCLG. 

Gloucestershire County Council’s governance framework reflects the CIPFA/SOLACE key 
principles and has been summarised within a Local Code of Corporate Governance 
2015/2016. This local code comprises the Council’s systems and processes, culture and 
values for the direction and control of the Authority and its activities through which it accounts 
to, engages with and leads the community. 

Members/Statutory Officers /Directors/Heads of Service Assurance Process 2015/16

A governance assurance process has been implemented to provide a framework for the 
annual assessment of the effectiveness of the governance arrangements operating within the 
Council. 

This includes a Lead Cabinet Member overview and oversight and challenge by the Council’s 
Statutory Officers i.e. The Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The 
‘three lines of defence risk assurance model’ has also been introduced which helps Members 
and Senior Management to understand where assurances are being obtained from and identify 
potential gaps in assurance. This assurance process is a significant contributor to the 
formulation of the AGS and any associated improvement areas. Full details of the framework 
can be found within the Council’s Annual Governance Statement 2015/2016.

The above process has therefore led Internal Audit to conclude that robust governance 
arrangements operate within the authority.

(7) Summary of additional Internal Audit Activity

(7a) Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

The Counter Fraud Team within Internal Audit (IA) received 15 new referrals in 2015/16, and 
also continued to work on 10 cases referred in 2014/15. Eight of these were completed 
within 2015/16 and all have been previously reported on. All field work has been completed 
on the two remaining cases but further sanctions have been required and this is still in 
progress. In addition IA continued to be involved in counter fraud work concerning staff 
travel, following-up irregularities with management as they arise. We have previously 
reported work undertaken to date within 2015/16 in this area, and arrangements have been 
made to recover in excess of £12k from employees where overpayments have been made. 
Staff have subsequently received disciplinary sanctions as a result.

Page 83



Appendix 1

12

The service areas of cases referred to Internal Audit within 2015/16 were categorised as 
follows:

Adults (5), Children& Families (5), Core Council Cluster (3) Communities (2)

Referrals in 2015/16

Seven of the cases received in 2015/16 have been closed, five of which have previously 
been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. Of the other two referrals now 
closed one was related to a school concerning allegations about the previous Headteacher 
not accounting for enterprise sales income. This was substantiated but was difficult to 
quantify given that no records existed. It was ensured that current procedures and processes 
addressed any gaps in controls to ensure assets and funds of the school were safeguarded 
for the future. The other case resulted in two members of staff resigning one immediately 
prior to a disciplinary hearing and the other at the beginning of the investigation during an 
initial interview. Many of the cases referred to Internal Audit involve intricate detail and Police 
referral. This invariably results in a delay before the investigation can be classed as closed 
and reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Internal Audit continues to support the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) which is a biennial data 
matching exercise administered by the Cabinet Office. The latest matches relate to data 
collected in October 2014, although an additional flexible matching report has been obtained 
relating to pensions during 2015. In addition to previously reported findings relating to 12 
cases of overpayment of pension of £18,748, this further report has identified a further 18 
cases where the Council was unaware that the pensioner had died and their death not 
reported to us. To date this has identified a further £8,460 of overpayment which is in the 
process of being recovered.

The next data matching exercise will be based on data submitted October 2016. 

Purchase Card Review 

Included within the Authority Wide category during 2014/15 was a purchase card review 
requested by the Statutory Officers i.e. the Chief Executive Officer, Monitoring Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer.  No fraud was identified as a result of this review; however, a number 
of procedural and best value issues arose. These included, for example:

 Lack of evidence of purchase authorisation;

 Poor journey planning, resulting in additional costs to the Authority;

 Poor VAT recovery; and

 Non compliance with procurement processes, such as using existing contracts for 
ICT equipment and office supplies.

Page 84



Appendix 1

13

New forms, processes and transparency reporting should address many of the issues 
raised.

As a result of this review, VAT recovery has significantly increased with £9,084.32 being 
reclaimed in 2015/16.

Adults – Direct Payments

We have also seen a number of Direct Payment (DP) referrals within 2015/16. Increasing 
awareness and diligence within Adults and especially Learning Disabilities has led to an 
increase in challenge. In addition, Internal Audit provided support, as appropriate, to the 
Direct Payment Champions Group advising on risk and control as part of the development 
and implementation of revised systems and processes.

Monitoring and Review

The Audit and Governance Committee and CoMT can take assurance that the Statutory 
Officers, comprising the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer are 
regularly fully briefed on all such fraud and irregularity activity, they challenge, monitor 
management actions and progress to date and approve all police referrals. 

(8) Internal Audit Effectiveness 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require ‘a relevant authority must undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance’. This process is also part of the wider annual review of the effectiveness of the 
internal control system, and significantly contributes towards the overall controls assurance 
gathering processes and ultimately the publication of the Annual Governance Statement.

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 also state that internal audit should conform to 
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2013.

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS)

These standards have four key objectives:

 Define the nature of internal auditing within the UK public sector; 

 Set basic principles for carrying out internal audit in the UK public sector; 

 Establish a framework for providing internal audit services, which add value to 
the organisation, leading to improved organisational processes and 
operations; and

 Establish the basis for the evaluation of internal audit performance and to 
drive improvement planning. 

Page 85



Appendix 1

14

The Internal Audit Charter and the Audit and Governance Committee’s Terms of Reference 
have both been amended to reflect the requirements of the standards.

External Assessment of the effectiveness of Internal Audit

An external assessment of the effectiveness of internal audit and conformance to the PSIAS 
was undertaken week commencing 18th May 2015 by the Chartered Institute of Internal 
Auditors and the outcome was reported to the Audit and Governance Committee and CoMT 
in June 2016.

It was noted that there were 56 fundamental principles to achieve with more than 150 points 
of recommended practice in the International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF). 

This assessment confirmed that GCC's internal audit function conformed to all of the 56 
principles. The assessor stated that this was an excellent performance given the breadth of 
the IPPF and the challenges facing the function. 

Internal Assessment - Customer Satisfaction Survey results 2015/16

At the close of each audit review a customer satisfaction questionnaire is sent out to the 
Director, Service Manager or nominated officer. The aim of the questionnaire is to gauge 
satisfaction of the service provided such as timeliness, quality and professionalism. 
Customers are asked to rate the service between excellent, good, fair and poor. 

A target of 80% was set where overall, audit was assessed as good or better. The latest 
results as summarised below, shows that the target has been exceeded, with the score of 
93.3% reflecting Internal Audit as being a positive support to their service.

Page 86



Appendix 1

15

In addition, the following positive comments have been received from our customers:

 ‘I am very grateful that we have been able to correct the factual inaccuracies and to re-
word the management response into a more acceptable style. I am also grateful to you 
for doing the audit since there are obviously serious issues which need to be 
addressed’. 

 ‘The Audit was successful in that the revised policies, procedures and appointments put 
in place have secured significant additional income to the County Council, as well as 
ensure a more robust way of securing and monitoring Section 106s’. 

 ‘As a member of staff in a jointly funded position, but employed by the NHS, the County 
Council structures and governance arrangements can be daunting as there is an 
assumption I know the set up given I am in a lead commissioner role.  Working with the 
auditor was refreshing because she didn't assume I had this knowledge and talked me 
through the whole process in a most helpful and professional manner’.

 ‘The report was very thorough and enabled us to look again at our processes and 
procedures to ensure they are clear and allow new staff to pick them up and follow.  
This is particularly helpful because we have had a change in staffing’. 

 ‘As always the auditor’s input is sound as she understands the constraints of the 
operational business and balances the risks well’.

 ‘Both auditors were supremely professional and courteous with obvious deep rooted 
experience in this area. Always clear about exactly what they needed to look at. I have 
no recommendations about improving its effectiveness. Audits should be completed like 
this. I know my job very well but their recommendations have been taken on board and 
actioned’.  

 ‘I found the auditor was very approachable - she explained the process and agreed 
overall objectives. Initial recommendations were reviewed and subsequently amended 
to improve the current process’. 

 ‘Thanks for your time in auditing the team; it has been helpful and gives an objective 
view of the developments we’ve made so far and where our focus needs to be going 
forward’. 

 ‘The auditor was supportive and helpful. She took the time to listen and to understand 
the work that we do and how the processes have developed’.

Lessons Learned from customer feedback and actions taken by Internal Audit

The Chief Internal Auditor reviews all client feedback survey forms and where a less than 
good rating has been provided by the client, a discussion is held with the both the relevant 
auditor and the manager to establish the rationale behind the rating and where appropriate 
actions are taken to address any issues highlighted. 

Page 87



Appendix 1

16

Over the years, improvement areas include, shorter, more focused internal audit reports, 
enhanced opening meetings i.e. to provide more information on the role of internal audit, the 
audit process and approach, ensure we fully consider the risk and the subsequent 
proportionality of the recommended controls to manage them, provide where possible more 
indication of when audit reviews will take place and a timelier turnaround of these reviews. 

Page 88



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

17

Completed Internal Audit Activity during the period April – June 2016

Summary of Limited Assurance Opinions on Control 

Service Area: Adult Services

Audit Activity: Client Contributions
Background
Gloucestershire County Council’s Adult Social Care relies on people who use services making a 
financial contribution to the cost of providing them, (if they are able to afford to do so). 

The Financial Assessments and Benefits (FAB) Team ensure that any financial contributions required 
from service users for residential and non-residential Social Care services are calculated fairly and in 
accordance with the Council’s policy and Government guidelines.  The Team also help to maximise 
income for individuals, and maximise charging revenue for the Council by providing advice and 
practical assistance to all service users, their partners and carers, to ensure that they are in receipt of 
their full welfare benefit entitlement.  

Scope
The focus of this review was to determine whether financial assessments are accurately and promptly 
completed in order that any financial charges can, where appropriate, be applied. 

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Limited 

Key findings

Policy/Guidance

 The FAB Policy and Procedural Guide needs to be further refreshed,to reflect the requirements of 
the Care Act 2014 in respect of the provision of independent financial information and advice. In 
addition, further detailed guidance/flowcharts should be produced to aid consistency and 
understanding of the FAB processes/application of benefit entitlements.

 The information that is held on the FAB Team’s shared drive is cleansed to ensure that any 
obsolete guidance is archived and that the current guidance is catalogued into folders for ease of 
reference.

Financial Assessment Form

 Section six of the Financial Assessment Form should be revised to provide for the ability to record 
the address of the property to be considered as part of the financial assessment, should this be 
different to the address stated within section one.

ERIC/ContrOCC (IT Finance Module)

 Consideration is given to either amending ERIC (the Council’s electronic social care record) or 
ensuring that within ContrOCC the address of the property that is to be considered as part of the 
financial assessment, i.e. when a deferred payment or property disregard is agreed can be 
recorded within a dedicated area, rather than within a general notes text box.  This amendment 
should aid the retrieval of this information going forward as required for management information. 

Page 89



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

18

Paying for Care/Independent Financial Advice

 Further consideration is given to the timing of the promotion of setting up a direct debit mandate 
within the customer journey/pathway in order to ensure, where appropriate this method of 
collection is utilised to the optimum.

 During the financial assessment greater focus should be given to:

o Explaining the billing process to the service user or their representatives and how a direct 
debit mandate form can be set up; and

o Informing all individuals of how they can access independent financial advice in line with 
the requirements of the Care Act.

Recording

 Visiting officers need to be more diligent when completing the Financial Assessment Form to 
ensure that the information recorded is an accurate record of the details gathered/examined. 

Quality Assurance Process

 The FAB Team does have a system in place for undertaking quality checks to ensure that 
assessments are completed accurately. A full time visiting officer is expected to undertake five 
visits a day, four days a week, therefore on average a visiting officer should conduct approximately 
80 visits a month. 

 Quality checks are limited as these are undertaken on a sample basis, the sample size is 
approximately 6% i.e. five assessments, per visiting officer, per month of the proposed target of 
completed assessments undertaken by each of the visiting officers and primarily relate to financial 
assessments that have been undertaken on site visits.  As copies of the prime financial documents 
are not routinely collected/retained to support the financial assessment, the effectiveness of these 
checks are limited further, for it is not possible to validate the service user’s capital as part of the 
quality check. 

 Going forward, in order to strengthen the control environment of the quality assurance process, 
management should consider the options available for gathering copies of prime financial 
documents, alongside the cost/benefits in order for these to be available for review during the 
quality assurance process, albeit that the retention period may be short in order to comply with the 
requirements of the Data Protection Act. Should the Service decide that they do not want to 
change the quality assurance process, i.e. the Service is willing to accept the associated risks this 
should be formally documented and signed-off at an appropriate level.  

Accuracy of Assessments

 From a sample of seven completed financial assessments reviewed during the audit, all 
calculations had been completed accurately with the exception of one service user, where Internal 
Audit identified that there has been a catalogue of errors made during the financial assessment 
process alongside failings in respect of the actions taken following an earlier safeguarding alert 
concerning financial abuse. 

Page 90



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

19

In this instance, it is evident that the governance/communications between service areas and other 
organisations/agencies should be reviewed and as appropriate strengthened to ensure, going 
forward, that there are robust procedures in place to safeguard vulnerable adults who have been 
subject to financial abuse and where appropriate, any other residents. 

 In addition, should the final calculation of the client contribution have been subject to an 
independent quality check, the outcome of the assessment and subsequent actions taken, 
including the request for authorisation to write-off a debt in the name of the service user for a 
period of non-payment of the service user’s client contribution, could have been avoided.

 For the period 1st April 2015-1st March 2016, over £2m of deprivation of assets has been 
identified by the team. In light of the financial abuse case the FAB Team Manager is now reviewing 
circa 65 cases, giving due consideration as to whether there are any further actions that should be 
taken in respect of these individuals and whether they may have been subject to any financial 
abuse that should have triggered a safeguarding alert.

Reviews

 From the information available from ERIC, Internal Audit established that as at December 2015, 
36% of service users who were in receipt of a chargeable service have been assessed as a “nil” or 
“negative” charge in respect of the client contribution that would be due.1 Currently the FAB Team 
do not undertake an annual review for these service users although a global uplift is applied to 
align with the pension/benefit increases as determined by the Department for Works and Pensions.

 Internal Audit is unable to quantify, should these service users be re-assessed, whether there 
would be a sufficient number of service users who have had a material change in their financial 
circumstances to significantly shift the level of the current % of “nil” or “negative” client contribution 
to a chargeable amount; however from a selection of ten cases with a “nil” contribution, it is 
possible that 30% of these could have changed to a positive charge. In light of the above, coupled 
with changes to the benefits system and the continued pressure that is being placed upon the 
external care budget, management should consider the inherent risks, alongside the cost/benefits 
of reviewing these cases on a periodic basis. 

Conclusion

The FAB Team does have a control framework in place to monitor whether financial assessments are 
accurately and promptly completed however this could be strengthened further. In particular, it is 
paramount that detailed guidance is available to promote consistency in the application of agreed 
processes and decision making and that the service has an effective quality assurance process in 
place, in order to safeguard against preventing errors/inaccuracies in the calculation of the client 
contribution. 

In the wider context, the service also plays a vital role in respect of fulfilling some of the Council’s 
statutory duties and corporate aims, i.e. compliance with the Care Act; income collection/debt 
management. It is therefore important to ensure that focus is being given to these contributory 
elements where appropriate, during the financial assessment process.

1 These figures provide a high level overview and do not exclude services such as Continuing Health 
Care funding, or Mental Health services which could reduce the figure stated to approximately 29%.

Page 91



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

20

Management Actions

Management have responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the above issues 
identified.

Whilst Internal Audit will include a follow up review within the 2017/2018 internal audit plan, it is 
recommended that senior management attend the next meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee and is requested to provide an update on the action taken in relation to each 
recommendation made.

Summary of Satisfactory Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Adult Education Service – Follow-Up
Background
During 2014/15 the Operations Director: Education, Learning and Libraries commissioned Internal 
Audit to undertake a review of the HR, payroll and financial procedures of the Adult Education Service.  
The findings resulted in limited assurance being given for both risk management and the control 
environment.  As a result, a follow-up audit was undertaken to provide assurance that the necessary 
improvements have been made.

Scope
The objective of the follow-up audit was to review the evidence in place to provide assurance that the 
agreed recommendations have been implemented. However, since the original audit took place, the 
Adult Education Service has been restructured into Commissioning and Direct Delivery with a new 
Adult Learning Manager being appointed for Direct Delivery in September 2015.  As the 
recommendations related mainly to what is now Direct Delivery, it was agreed with the Head of 
Extended Learning that this is where the focus of the follow-up audit would be.

Risk Assurance –  Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings

The original audit resulted in recommendations being made in the following areas: Staff recruitment 
(Roles and responsibilities for undertaking recruitment checks when employing tutors; staff contracts 
of employment; the format of paper-based staff expenses claims and the mileage rate applied; SAP 
records showing occupied and vacant positions); Delegated authority for approving expenditure; the 
collection, recording and banking of cash; the reconciliation of cash and credit income due and 
received; Gifts for staff; and Journals and associated supporting documentation.

Significant improvements have been made in the area of staff recruitment, both for the tutors and for 
those staff that are employed by GCC within Direct Delivery of the Adult Education Service and sound 
documentary evidence was in place for the majority of the above areas that were reviewed. However, 
the review identified further improvement areas and these are noted below:

Page 92



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

21

 Amending SAP records and the Statement of Particulars for the recent appointment of one 
member of staff to accurately reflect the status of her position;

 The paper-based staff expenses claim form used by agency staff has been amended.  However, if 
a contract is awarded to a new staff agency, a claims system will be implemented that will enable 
the tutors to make efficient, accurate and consistent claims that are appropriately authorised; and

 A system will be put in place to ensure that all income received is reconciled to the income that is 
expected by referring to course registration details, the charging policy and actual attendance 
records.

Management Actions

Management have responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the issues 
identified.

Service Area: Strategic Finance

Audit Activity: Debtor Write-Offs
Background
An aged debt report is produced on a monthly basis, detailing debts owing to Gloucestershire County 
Council, which are broken down into individual cost centres, as well as how long the debt has been 
outstanding. Although every effort should be made to recover a debt, if payment is not received then 
consideration should be given to making a provision for bad debt and ultimately writing off the debt.

As at 31st December 2015 the total amount of outstanding debt was almost £9.3 million, which 
included £1.5m which had been outstanding for between 181 and 365 days and £2.5m which had 
been outstanding for more than 365 days.  Between April and October 2015, 308 debts totalling 
£92,347 were written off.

Scope
This audit reviewed compliance with the current system for writing off debts.  It also reviewed long-
outstanding debts to establish what the rationale is for not putting the debts forward for write-off.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings
The write-off procedures are part of the Corporate Debt Policy and at the time of the audit there was 
no published debt policy available to staff.  The write-off procedures have recently been revised and 
the updated threshold/authorisation levels published on Staffnet.  The audit was undertaken, and 
testing carried out, in accordance with the previous write-off procedures.

A sample of 39 debts which had been written off between April and October 2015 was reviewed.  Of 
these, two did not have a write-off request form and three had not been correctly authorised but the 
remainder had all been processed correctly. This meant that of the sample write-offs tested, 87% were 
compliant with the system in place at the time of the testing.

Page 93



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

22

All adult social care debts are currently being reviewed, with a plan to write off debts where it is no 
longer viable to chase the outstanding amounts.

Budget monitoring meetings are held between Budget Holders of high risk budgets and Strategic 
Finance staff, where debts are discussed as part of these meetings, however the possibility of writing 
off debts, including the possibility of allocating a bad debt provision is not always discussed. 

Three recommendations were made as a result of this audit:

 Publish the Corporate Debt Policy and communicate this to staff;

 Ensure all files have a correctly authorised write-off form before they are processed; and 

 Continue to provide information on debts to all Budget Holders and any advice or 
recommendations made at budget monitoring meetings with regard to the write-off of debt should 
be followed up.

Management Actions

Management have responded positively to the recommendations made.

Service Area: ICT

Audit Activity: ICT Strategy (undertaken by Internal Audit’s commissioned ICT auditors)

Background
Following significant changes to the management and support of the Council’s ICT infrastructure and 
also the transformation programme, this review was undertaken to give assurance that the ICT 
Strategy adequately reflects the direction of travel and that all drivers for change have been/are being 
met. This audit was established as part of the initial assessment of audit needs in 2014/15, however 
the review was postponed until 2015/16 to allow for the changes to bed in.

Scope
The scope of this review encompassed:

 ICT structure, resources and delivery priorities are aligned to the organisation’s business 
objectives and deliverables; and

 ICT Strategy / roadmap support the Strategic Commissioning Plan and Delivery Plan.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings

The strategy document was prepared under the previous management arrangement and so is perhaps 
in need of refreshing to reflect this and other changes, although this is not unduly hindering the 
delivery programme. 

Page 94



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

23

The audit work confirmed that the strategy content and deliverables have not changed significantly 
despite the change of service provider and are still appropriate to the business. The visions within the 
strategy are still relevant and the projects to deliver these appear to be still valid and are being 
managed. The key driver in the strategy is to help the Council to meet its objectives and to help 
departments to meet their plans and goals. In terms of delivery, the ICT team has been re-organised to 
help with this.

The Acting ICT Strategic Lead has asked the ICT Partner (Sopra Steria) to produce a schedule of 
projects for ongoing prioritisation and to ensure that there is a process for managing these through the 
early stages and to the decision point and beyond. This should ensure that nothing is missed and that 
a mechanism for project management is in place as appropriate.

A strategic forum to monitor strategy content and further develop ICT strategic content has only 
recently started, this being the ICT Governance Board. Recommendations were made that the terms 
of reference of the group and its membership should be confirmed and management have informed 
Internal audit that this was agreed at its meeting in February 2016. A further recommendation 
suggested that the ICT Governance Board should review the strategy and content (and the associated 
roadmap for delivery) to ensure it remains appropriate and properly prioritised. Internal audit are 
informed that it was agreed at the March meeting that the ICT Strategy will be comprehensively 
reviewed and the findings reported back to a future Board meeting when complete.

The ICT Strategy is/should be a Council wide document, whereas there is a significant proportion of IT 
delivered from outside of the ICT/Sopra Steria function (e.g. SAP/Capgemini) and others. Just under 
30% of the whole Council ICT budget is allocated to and spent by business areas other than the ICT 
Service and via Sopra Steria. A recommendation was made that the ICT provided from outside the 
ICT/Sopra Steria framework should be brought together into the strategic framework for monitoring 
and that this may be a role for the ICF Programme Board. A draft paper entitled ‘Shadow ICT at GCC’ 
written by the Interim ICT Manager is to be considered by the Board; target date July 2016.

Conclusion
The strategy document could benefit from being re-evaluated and brought up to date to reflect the 
present and prevailing circumstances, i.e. the change of provider, and any other significant changes. 
However, this has not stopped or hindered the progress of the key projects being identified, which are 
still part of the business transformation projects and are currently being worked on and reported. From 
our evaluation, the content remains appropriate.

Management Actions

Management have responded positively to the recommendations made.

Page 95



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

24

Service Area: Strategy and Challenge

Audit Activity: Internet Usage - Misuse
Background
The use of the internet is encouraged where it supports the aims and objectives of Gloucestershire 
County Council. However, the Council has an Internet Acceptable Use Policy which needs to be 
adhered to. 

Scope
To review compliance with the Council’s Internet Acceptable Use Policy. 

Risk Assurance –  Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings

Employees wishing to establish an internet account and gain access to the Internet are required to 
complete an application form (for authorisation by their line manager) and to submit this to ICT 
Application Support Team. By signing the Internet Declaration Section of the application form, the 
employee confirms: 

 “I have read the County Council’s Internet Acceptable Use Policy. I fully understand my 
responsibilities in relation to this Policy and agree to abide by them. I realise that the County 
Council records the Internet address of any site that I visit and keeps a record of any network 
activity in which I transmit or receive any kind of file.  I understand that a breach of the rules 
laid down in the Internet Acceptable Use Policy could lead to disciplinary action. 
Acknowledging the above, I request Internet Access as a necessary part of my daily work”  

The analysis tool used by Internal Audit i.e. Websense helped to identify the top users of the internet 
(in general) for July, Sept and October 2015; and the top users under the following categories: 
shopping, facebook, travel and news and media.

From this initial analysis a sample of 12 users were selected for further analysis in order to evaluate 
whether a significant breach of the Council’s Internet Acceptable Use Policy may have occurred and if 
this was the case to be escalated to the user’s line manager.

Conclusion

The vast majority of the activity was work related or where this activity was not work related this had 
been kept to a minimum thus warranting no further action to be taken. However, the internet activity by 
five users did represent a potential breach of the policy which warranted being brought to the attention 
of the user’s line manager. Following further analysis, this has subsequently resulted in informal 
warnings being given to three employees due to excessive misuse of this facility during work time. 
Internal Audit concluded that management should consider issuing a generic communication to all 
users of the internet reminding them of the conditions on which access to the internet has been 
granted.  

Management Actions

Management have responded positively to the recommendation made.

Page 96



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

25

Summary of Substantial Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Adult Services

Audit Activity: Client Affairs Follow-up
Background
During 2013-14, Internal Audit conducted a review of the Council’s arrangements for the management 
of client’s affairs (vulnerable clients who are at risk of financial abuse and have been assessed as 
lacking the mental capacity to manage their own financial affairs).  

The findings emanating from the 2013-14 review resulted in a limited assurance opinion being given in 
respect of the adequacy of the control environment for the mitigation/management of the Service’s 
inherent risks that could impact upon the achievement of the Service’s objectives. Internal Audit made 
a number of recommendations aimed at strengthening the risk management, governance and control 
environment.

Scope
The objective of the audit was to determine whether the agreed management actions to address the 
recommendations emanating from the review had now been fully implemented, thus ensuring that 
there are now effective systems and processes in place for the management of client’s affairs and to 
ensure that these are properly safeguarded, recorded and accounted for, on receipt and return and 
which protects the interests of both the client and the employee.

Risk Assurance –  Substantial
Control Assurance – Substantial

Key findings
It was pleasing to note that actions had been undertaken to implement all of the agreed management 
responses emanating from the previous Internal Audit report. As a result of the existing systems and 
processes being sufficiently strengthened since the previous audit, the opinion given on the control 
environment has increased from limited to substantial. In addition, the opinion on risk identification has 
also increased, changing from adequate to substantial, this is highly commendable. 

Whilst currently working well, it is imperative that management continue to review the team’s capacity 
to effectively manage existing clients, in order to keep the referrals awaiting allocation to a minimum, 
therefore ensuring that all client safeguarding concerns are covered and that the Council does not 
incur costs that might have been avoided if a court order had been in place. 

Service Area: Strategy and Challenge

Audit Activity: Corporate Complaints – Ombudsman Involvement
Background
If GCC fails to satisfy someone who has been through all the stages of the appropriate GCC 
complaints process, then the complainant is advised of their right to take the matter to the Local 
Government Ombudsman (LGO).

Page 97



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

26

Once the Ombudsman has completed an investigation a decision is also required about whether there 
has been maladministration and injustice.  In these cases the Ombudsman will recommend suitable 
ways to resolve the matter, which could include an apology, changes to the service, financial redress 
or in the most serious cases, a public report which has to be considered by the County Council.

Scope
The objective of the audit was to review a sample of complaints that have been upheld by the 
Ombudsman to ensure that any recommended corrective action has been taken and/or lessons 
learned implemented by the service areas.

Risk Assurance –  Substantial

Control Assurance – Substantial

Key findings

A sample of four complaints that had been upheld by the Ombudsman was selected for testing.  Of 
these, the Ombudsman had made 14 recommendations in total. Evidence of implementation was seen 
for 13 of the recommendations.  The outstanding evidence was in relation to an apology which the 
service area said would have been made but there was no formal evidence of a written apology being 
sent.

For three of the four cases, the Ombudsman had requested notification once the actions had been 
completed.  This was fully provided for one case (after a chase letter from the Ombudsman), partially 
provided for another case and not provided for the third case.  Legal Services has agreed to revise the 
way in which they record Ombudsman complaints to incorporate the following information:

 What the agreed recommendations were as per the final decision letter;

 Whether notification has been received from the service areas that the actions have been 
completed; and

 Whether notification has been sent to the Ombudsman that the agreed actions have been 
completed.

In addition to the Ombudsman’s recommendations, the service areas also identified some lessons 
learned for two of the cases and evidence of implementation was seen for both of the cases.

Management Actions

Management have responded positively to the minor enhancements proposed.

Page 98



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

27

Summary of Consulting Activity and/or support provided where no opinions are 
provided

Service Area: Adult Services

Audit Activity: Adult Social Care – Probity Checks/Consultancy
The demand for external care services for adults within Gloucestershire over recent years has placed 
significant pressure upon the Council’s Adult Services external care budget.  

Since 2009, Internal Audit has conducted a series of independent reviews within this area, and 
ongoing work is now being undertaken to support a project which is being led by the Head of Financial 
Management that targets potential high risk areas.  A series of probity checks are to be undertaken 
upon key financial administration areas to check that payments are accurate and valid and that 
income due is being collected effectively.

Service Area: Adult Services

Audit Activity: Safeguarding Adults
Background
During 2014-15, the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board (GSAB) carried out an adult case 
review into sexual assaults and financial abuse committed against vulnerable adults in a supported 
living home in Gloucestershire. This resulted in a series of recommendations being made to 
strengthen the way in which local professionals and agencies work together to safeguard adults at 
risk.

Scope
The role of Internal Audit was to provide professional risk and control advice and support as required 
for the development of systems and processes that provide for a robust assurance framework for 
monitoring the implementation and effectiveness of the recommendations emanating from the recent 
Adult Case Review of Home X.

Key findings
The GSAB has put in place an assurance framework for monitoring the progress made against these 
recommendations and had not found the need to seek additional support from Internal Audit during 
2015/16. 

Internal Audit has however held meetings with both the Independent Chair of the Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Adults Board and the Council’s Head of Safeguarding Adults to obtain a position 
statement. The Independent Chair stated that he was satisfied that there was an adequate assurance 
framework in place to monitor the progress made against the recommendations emanating from the 
review. And the Head of Safeguarding Adults provided Internal Audit with the following documents to 
support the position statement:

 A copy of a briefing paper that was presented to GSAB on 25th November 2015. The paper 
explained the actions taken and improvements made following the case review;
 

Page 99



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

28

 A copy of the GSAB Strategic Plan 2015-2018. This includes a reference to the Home X 
recommendations under “Ensure learning from Safeguarding Case Reviews is shared and put in 
place”;

 A copy of the GSAB Risk Register (as at November 2015). This records entries for further 
mitigating actions in respect of Home X;

 A copy of the minutes of the GSAB meeting held on 25th November, 2015. These evidence that 
each of the 12 recommendations made was discussed by the Board and an agreement was 
reached to:

o Close 7 of the recommendations;
o Seek updates from the Emergency Duty Team, Building Better Lives and the Care Quality 

Commission; and
o For Recommendation 2, to add actions to the GSAB Risk Register and close.

Service Area: Adult Services

Audit Activity: Re-commissioning Brandon Trust - Consultancy

Planning for the re-commissioning of the Brandon Trust contract is a commissioning priority to 
support the delivery of the Building Better Lives Policy 2014-2024. In order that the Council’s future 
commissioning intentions are realised it has been agreed that the current contract will be terminated 
in 2016.  

Internal Audit have supported the project working group, providing professional risk and control 
advice, support and challenge as the new contractual arrangements have been commissioned. 

Service Area: Authority Wide

Audit Activity: Contract Management Framework Implementation Group - Consultancy

As a commissioning organisation 70% of the Council’s income flows back out to external third party 
service providers and it is anticipated that this will increase further in the forthcoming years.

Within its Commercial Vision the Council has set out its intention to develop a robust framework for 
the effective governance of commissioning, procurement and contract management arrangements. 

Internal Audit has been actively involved in supporting the project working group, providing 
professional risk and control advice, support and challenge as the new arrangements are being 
developed for the contract management framework. 

Page 100



Appendix 1 Appendix 2

29

Service Area: Authority Wide

Audit Activity: Electronic Call Monitoring - Consultancy

Learning disability services are delivered in partnership with the Clinical Commissioning 
Group. The partnership currently spends circa £21 million per year on Learning Disability 
supported living care which is being delivered by approximately 64 service providers.

The Council is implementing an electronic call monitoring system that can provide a 
transparent view to both the Council and Providers of the delivery of the services 
commissioned.

Internal Audit has been actively involved in supporting the project working group, providing 
professional risk and control advice, support and challenge as the new arrangements are 
being developed to ensure that these include robust systems and processes for effective 
contract monitoring. 

Service Area: Communities

Audit Activity: Highways and Transportation Services Contract - Consultancy

In December 2013, the Council awarded a managed services contract to AMEY for the 
provision of a number of highways and transportation services from April 2014. The client (in 
consultation with AMEY) has been working together to explore the feasibility of providing an 
interface with the contractor’s works ordering system and the Council’s SAP system to 
automate the invoicing and payment process. During the period, Internal Audit has attended 
meetings of the project group to provide challenge and control advice on this initiative.    

Service Area: Authority Wide

Audit Activity: Staff Mileage Claims - Consultancy

During 2015/16 Internal Audit provided consultancy support to the lead officer for the Meeting 
the Challenge 2: Staff Business Travel Work-stream which aims to promote the use of 
alternative modes of transport other than personal vehicles. This involved Internal Audit 
undertaking detailed analysis on the claims submitted by service areas where the total value of 
the claims had not reduced when compared to the previous year. The analysis highlighted 
where alternative and less expensive means of travel could have been considered by the 
individual with the conclusions drawn then being discussed with the Service Manager thus 
encouraging increased challenge and promoting a change of culture going forward. 

Page 101



Appendix 2

30

Local Government Transparency Code 2015

Introduction

This Code is issued to meet the Government’s desire to place more power into citizens’ 
hands to increase democratic accountability and make it easier for local people to contribute 
to the local decision making process and help shape public services.  Transparency is the 
foundation of local accountability and the key that gives people the tools and information 
they need to enable them to play a bigger role in society.  The availability of data can also 
open new markets for local business, the voluntary and community sectors and social 
enterprises to run services or manage public assets.

Detecting and preventing fraud (taken from Annex B of code)

Tackling fraud is an integral part of ensuring that tax-payers money is used to protect 
resources for frontline services.  The cost of fraud to local government is estimated at £2.1 
billion a year.  This is money that can be better used to support the delivery of front line 
services and make savings for local tax payers.

A culture of transparency should strengthen counter-fraud controls.  The Code makes it clear 
that fraud can thrive where decisions are not open to scrutiny and details of spending, 
contracts and service provision are hidden from view.  Greater transparency, and the 
provisions in this Code, can help combat fraud.

Local authorities must annually publish the following information about their counter fraud 
work 2 (as detailed for GCC) in the table below:

Council wide fraud and irregularity activity relating to 2015/2016 including Internal 
Audit (IA) activity

Question GCC Response

Number of occasions they use powers under the Prevention of Social 
Housing Fraud (Power to Require Information) (England) 
Regulations 2014, or similar powers.

N/A

Total number (absolute and full time equivalent) of employees 
undertaking investigations and prosecutions of fraud.

1.67FTE (IA only)
Inc. NFI

Total number (absolute and full time equivalent) of professionally 
accredited counter fraud specialists.

2.45FTE (IA only)

Total amount spent by the authority on the investigation and 
prosecution of fraud.

IA = £65,351
Other service areas (Blue 

Badge) = £14,462
Total number of fraud cases investigated, including 43 blue badge 
fraud (inc. b/fwd. cases).

54

2 (The definition of fraud is as set out by the Audit Commission in Protecting the Public Purse). 

Page 102



Appendix 2

31

In addition to the above, it is recommended that local authorities should go further than the 
minimum publication requirements set out above (as detailed for GCC) in the table below.

Question GCC Response

Total number of cases of irregularity investigated. (Both IA and other 
service areas inc. b/fwd. cases. Includes 30 pension cases identified 
through NFI)

47

Total number of occasions on which a) fraud and b) irregularity was 
identified.

a) 54

b) 47

Total monetary value of a) the fraud and b) the irregularity that was 
detected.

Some cases are still 
being 
quantified/value of 
fraud evaluated; 
some values have 
not been provided. A 
number of cases 
investigated resulted 
in financial loss 
avoidance.

Total monetary value of a) the fraud ( inc. blue badge costs awarded but 
exc. fines) and b) the irregularity that was recovered 

a) £18,286

b) £13,055

Full details about the code and its requirements can be found at: 
http://www.local.gov.uk/practitioners-guides-to-publishing-data

Page 103

http://www.local.gov.uk/practitioners-guides-to-publishing-data


This page is intentionally left blank



internalaudit

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion Reported to Audit 
Committe Comments

Authority Wide Complaints Process - Phase 2 High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 25/09/2015 Brought Forward
Authority Wide Internet Usage - Misuse High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 24/06/2016
Authority Wide Corporate Complaints - Ombudsman involvement Medium Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 24/06/2016
Strategic Finance Manual Authorisation of Creditor Payments High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 25/09/2015 Brought Forward
Strategic Finance Management of LGPS High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 25/09/2015 Included within Annual Governance Statement
Strategic Finance Budget Monitoring High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 15/04/2016 Brought Forward
Strategic Finance Bank Reconciliation High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 15/04/2016
Strategic Finance Budget Setting High Deferred Carried forward to 2016/17 plan
Strategic Finance Corporate Debt Policy High Deferred Carried forward to 2016/17 plan
Strategic Finance Debtor write-offs High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 24/06/2016
Strategic Finance Capital - Virements and Delegated Powers High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 15/04/2016 Follow up audit in 2016/17 plan
Strategic Finance Petty Cash Medium Cancelled Medium priority
Adults and Public Health Provision of Care and Support - Extra Care Housing Schemes High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 25/09/2015
Adults and Public Health External Care Recovery Plan - Deaths and Discharges High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 22/01/2016 Follow up audit in 2016/17 plan
Adults and Public Health Active Together - Healthy Together and Childrens Activity Fund High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 15/04/2016 Follow up audit in 2016/17 plan
Adults and Public Health Adult Social Care - Data Quality - Invoice Validation High Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 15/04/2016 Due to Management commissioning specific 

project
Adults and Public Health Better Care Fund High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 22/01/2016
Adults and Public Health Client Contributions Adult Social Care High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 24/06/2016
Adults and Public Health Direct Payments (Adults) High Consultancy / investigatory Not Applicable Not Applicable
Adults and Public Health Financial Assessment and Benefits Team Limited Assurance follow up High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 15/04/2016 Follow up audit in 2016/17 plan
Adults and Public Health Support Planning - Brokerage - Consultancy High Cancelled Management no longer require support until 

17/18
Adults and Public Health Workforce Development of Social Workers - Limited Assurance Follow up High Deferred Carried forward to 2016/17 plan
Adults and Public Health Annual Care Assessment Process (re-assessment - reviews) High Deferred Carried forward to 2016/17 plan
Adults and Public Health Contract Management Arrangements Adults and Public Health High Deferred Carried forward to 2016/17 plan
Adults and Public Health Deferred Payments High Deferred Carried forward to 2016/17 plan
Adults and Public Health Gloucestershire Care Partnership - Limited Assurance follow up High Deferred Carried forward to 2016/17 plan
Adults and Public Health Gloucestershire Industrial Services (GIS) Healthcare High Deferred Carried forward to 2016/17 plan
Adults and Public Health Client Affairs - Limited Assurance follow up High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 24/06/2016
Adults and Public Health Contract Management Framework Implementation Group High Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/06/2016 Reported in annual report
Adults and Public Health Electronic Call Monitoring - Consultancy High Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/06/2016 Reported in annual report
Adults and Public Health Re-commissioning Brandon Trust High Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/06/2016 Reported in annual report
Adults and Public Health Adults Probity High Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/06/2016 Internal Audit supporting transformational 

change
Adults and Public Health Adult Safeguarding - Consultancy High Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/06/2016 Reported in annual report
Children and Families Gloucestershire Music Service High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 25/09/2015 Follow up audit in 2016/17 plan
Children and Families Library 1 High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/06/2015 Brought Forward
Children and Families Library 2 High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/06/2015 Brought Forward
Children and Families Agency - Inhouse Foster Placements High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 15/04/2016
Children and Families Joint Working on Children's Social Care High Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 15/04/2016
Children and Families Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) High Draft Report Issued
Children and Families Adult Education Service High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 24/06/2016
Children and Families Schools High Final Report Issued 15/04/2016 Opinions provided in individual reports
Children and Families Contact Team High Audit in Progress
Children and Families Direct Payments (Childrens) High Audit in Progress
Children and Families Child Protection Conference Team High Draft Report Issued
Children and Families Youth Offending Service Medium Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 26/06/2015 Brought Forward
Children and Families Recruitment of Social Workers within Children and Families Medium Audit in Progress
Communities and Infrastructure Parking Management Services Contract High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 26/06/2015 Brought Forward
Communities and Infrastructure Highways Local High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 25/09/2015 Brought Forward
Communities and Infrastructure Local Enterprise Partnership - Growing Places High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 25/09/2015 Brought Forward
Communities and Infrastructure Public Transport Contracts - Decision Making High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 26/06/2015 Follow up audit in 2016/17 plan
Communities and Infrastructure Developers Contributions - Limited Assurance follow up High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 25/09/2015
Communities and Infrastructure Invoice Verification Process for Public Transport Contracts and SEN Home to 

School Transport Contracts
High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Substantial 25/09/2015

Communities and Infrastructure Major Highways Scheme High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 25/09/2015
Communities and Infrastructure Street Lighting – LED Replacement and Term Maintenance Contract High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 25/09/2015 New Activity
Communities and Infrastructure Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) - Statement of Assurance - 

Year 2014-15
High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 22/01/2016

Communities and Infrastructure Business Continuity - Limited Assurance follow up High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 22/01/2016

Page 1 of 2

P
age 105



internalaudit

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion Reported to Audit 
Committe Comments

Communities and Infrastructure Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) - Governance High Deferred Carried forward to 2016/17 plan
Communities and Infrastructure Public Transport - Revenue Guarantee Contracts High Cancelled Priority on Public Transport Contracts Decision 

Making
Communities and Infrastructure Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) - Fleet Management High Deferred Follow up audit in 2016/17 plan
Communities and Infrastructure Highways and Transportation Services Contract High Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/06/2016 Internal Audit currently participating in project 

meetings prior to commencement of audit.  In 
2016/17 plan

Communities and Infrastructure On-street Parking - Cash collected via Pay and Display Machines High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 22/01/2016
Communities and Infrastructure Risk Management of the Residual Waste New Contract High Deferred Carried forward to 2016/17 plan
Communities and Infrastructure Integrated Transport Unit - Dynamic Purchasing System Medium Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 15/04/2016
Communities and Infrastructure Coroners Service Medium Cancelled Medium priority
Communities and Infrastructure Retained Fire-fighters Fees Medium Cancelled Medium priority
Enabling and Transition Review of Statutory Compliance arrangements High Audit in Progress Brought Forward
Enabling and Transition ICT Managed Services Contract - Steria High Deferred Carried forward to 2016/17 plan
Enabling and Transition Agency Staff High Cancelled Audit cancelled due to the agency contract 

currently being reviewed and renewed.
Enabling and Transition Overtime Payments Medium Cancelled Medium priority
ICT ICT Strategy & Business Objectives High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 24/06/2016 Brought Forward
ICT Fire and Rescue IT High Draft Report Issued Brought Forward
ICT Data Storage - Structures High Draft Report Issued
ICT Change Management High Draft Report Issued
ICT Joint working GCC & NHS - Information Governance Review High Draft Report Issued Brought Forward
ICT Cyber Security High Draft Report Issued
Internal Audit Certification Community Capacity High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/09/2015
Internal Audit Certification Transforming Care Grant - No 31-2457 High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/09/2015
Internal Audit Certification Capital Funding to Support Drug and Alcohol Recovery Centres High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/09/2015
Internal Audit Certification Fire and Rescue Authorities Capital Funding Grants High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/09/2015
Internal Audit Certification Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated Transport and Highway High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/09/2015
Internal Audit Certification Sixth Form Funding High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/09/2015
Internal Audit Certification Troubled Families Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 15/04/2016
Internal Audit Certification Troubled Families Grant - Claim 2 High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 15/04/2016
Internal Audit Certification Local Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF) - Cheltenham and Gloucester High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2016
Superannuation Fund Business Service Centre (BSC) Payroll / Pensions High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 22/01/2016 Follow up audit in 2016/17 plan

Exempt Limited Assurance Report High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 25/09/2015 & 
22/01/2016

Brought Forward

Exempt Limited Assurance Report High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 15/04/2016
Exempt Assurance Report High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 15/04/2016

Page 2 of 2

P
age 106



Report to the Audit and Governance Committee 24th June 2016 on 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit 
report relating to the audit of Financial Assessments and Benefits Team-
Limited Assurance-Follow Up

Lead Officers: 
Tina Reid, Operations Lead: Adult Social Care and Business Development 
David Dale, Operations Lead (General Business Services)

Summary of Audit Area 

Gloucestershire County Council’s Adult Social Care relies on people who use 
services making a financial contribution to the cost of providing them, (if they 
are able to afford to do so). 

The Financial Assessments & Benefits (FAB) team ensure that any financial 
contributions required from service users for residential and non-residential 
Social Care services are calculated fairly and in accordance with GCC 
policies and Government guidelines.  The team also help to maximise income 
for individuals and maximise charging revenue for GCC by providing advice 
and practical assistance to all service users, their partners and carers to 
ensure that they are in receipt of their full welfare benefit entitlement.  

During 2013/14 the Council’s Administration Hub was formed. Consequently, 
the administrative posts that supported the FAB team were integrated into the 
Hub and the line management responsibilities transferred under the new 
arrangements so this no longer lies with the FAB Team Manager. 

The Admin Hub model is based on the principle of flexible working 
arrangements for staff, to deliver a comprehensive administration and support 
function to service areas, in order that the needs of the customer can be met. 
In practice, this requires staff to understand the service area that they are 
supporting in order to be able to provide the support required to an optimum 
level. 

In light of the above, it was agreed that a planned review of the FAB team 
would be undertaken as part of the 2014-15 Internal Audit plan. The findings 
emanating from the review resulted in a limited assurance opinion being given 
in respect of the level of assurance over the Service’s Risk Identification 
Maturity and the Control Environment.

Terms of Reference of the Audit

The focus of this review is to determine whether the agreed management 
actions to address the fundamental (high priority) recommendations 
emanating from the review have now been fully implemented, thus ensuring 
that there are now effective systems and processes in place for the 
management, monitoring and delivery of financial assessments. 

Page 107

Agenda Item 9



Risks
 Non-compliance with statutory requirements;

 Non-compliance with Policy/ Procedural requirements 

 Ineffective/inaccurate assessments;

 Loss of funds to the Council;

 Complaints; and

 Reputational damage.

Key Findings
More formal arrangements are now in place that set out the agreed standards/ 
mutually-accepted expectations between the FAB team and the 
Administration Hub. There is also greater clarity in respect of the roles and 
responsibilities for specific tasks and investment has been made in training 
the Administrative staff that are deployed to support the FAB team. 

Communications between the Administrative staff and the Financial 
Assessment and Benefits team has improved however, going forward there 
are opportunities to strengthen these further through more formalised Service 
Level Agreement (SLA) meetings and team meetings that are inclusive of staff 
from both the FAB team and the Administration Hub. Recommendation 1

Significant improvements have also been made to the method of collection 
and the data source for the FAB team’s performance metrics and going 
forward, further refinement will be required to ensure that these measures 
remain focused towards the service’s objectives. Overall, the source data for 
the respective service area’s performance metrics is being captured and 
reported upon within “In Phase” (corporate performance system), albeit that 
there is still an opportunity to further improve the accuracy and timeliness of 
reporting in some instances.  

Some performance metrics have been identified for the Administrative team 
and monitoring arrangements for a number of these are in place. This said the 
metrics that are captured within the FAB team’s Annual Business Plan are not 
currently being captured or reported upon within “In Phase” and this should be 
addressed going forward.  There is also an opportunity to further develop 
metrics to support the monitoring of the team’s performance against the 
service standards as laid down within the Service Level Agreement. 

Similarly, residual risk ratings as detailed within the Annual Business Plan 
need to be accurately and promptly reported within In Phase, for both Service 
areas. Recommendations 3 & 4

It is encouraging that the Financial Assessment and Benefits officer’s visiting 
capacity is now being better utilised. It is unfortunate however that the FAB 
team have once again experienced a period of reduced staff resource in 
respect of the Financial Assessment and Benefits Visiting Officer posts during 
this review period and this has had an impact upon the level of outstanding 
referrals. The excel spreadsheet that is used to record and monitor the 

Page 108



progress of referrals showed that there were 610 outstanding referrals as at 
the end of September 2015. 

It is worth noting however, that the excel spreadsheet is proving to be very 
unstable. Data is being corrupted and the spreadsheet regularly crashes. 
Internal Audit is advised that this has led to some significant periods of staff 
downtime for the Administrative team. In the interim, a work around solution is 
in place however it is paramount that a more robust long term solution is 
found as soon as possible. Ongoing discussions are being held with the ICT 
provider to determine whether the Council’s electronic social care record 
ERIC could be adapted to provide a suitable solution. Recommendation 2

The rollout of access to the Department for Works and Pension’s Customer 
Information System is still pending and therefore until this is operational, 
access to the information required is still limited to one assessment per 
telephone call which continues to impede the efficiency of the service. 

Action taken as at the end of May 2016 and/or proposed

Recommendation 1 SLA Monitoring Meetings/Team Meetings

Consideration is given to:

 Formalising the SLA monthly monitoring meetings to include the review 
of the performance of the Admin Hub team against the agreed service 
standards.

 Team meetings being inclusive to staff from both the FAB team and the 
Admin Hub to promote the “one team” ethos and an inclusive forum for 
discussions to aid the identification of any proposed changes to 
enhance/support the effective delivery of the day-to-day operations. 

Progress update:

Both parts of this recommendation have been implemented.

Recommendation 2 Management/Monitoring System

As a matter of priority a suitable alternative system for the management and 
monitoring of FAB referrals is sourced/agreed/implemented.

Progress update:

We are currently in the process of making amendments to the ERIC system in 
an attempt to be able to use that as an interim measure until the 
implementation of ContrOCC which is planned for October 2016 which will 
hold a full case management system for us to use.

Recommendation 3 Performance Metrics

Page 109



 Performance metrics are accurately and promptly reported within In Phase 
in line with the quarterly reporting deadlines.

 Performance metrics are further developed to aid the monitoring of the 
performance of the Admin Hub team against the service standards stated 
within the SLA.

Progress update:

Both parts of this recommendation have been implemented.

Recommendation 4 Risk Management
 Consideration is given to further developing the “Measures” in respect of 

the “Customer” within the Admin Hub’s Annual Business Plan to include 
performance data.   

 Going forward the risks identified within the Admin Hub and FAB team’s 
Annual Business Plan are accurately and promptly reported upon within In 
Phase in line with the quarterly reporting deadlines.

Progress update:

Both parts of this recommendation have been implemented.

Page 110



Report to Audit and Governance Committee 24th June 2016 on actions 
taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit report 
relating to the audit of Active Together, Healthy Together and Children’s 
Activity Fund Grant Schemes

Lead Officer: Sarah Scott

Presenting officer (if different to above)

Summary of Audit Area 

The Active Together, Healthy Together and Children’s Activity Fund grant 
schemes were launched in 2014.  Active Together funding totalled 
£2,120,000, to cover the years 2014/15 and 2015/16, with each county 
councillor receiving £40,000 for their electoral division.  The purpose of the 
grant was to encourage more sport and physical activity across the county.

There was only one round of Healthy Together funding, in 2014/15.  The 
funding totalled £530,000; £10,000 per electoral division which was pooled 
per district and used to support health and wellbeing projects.

The Children’s Activity Fund scheme was funded from the Children and 
Young People’s budget.  Councillors received £5,000 each year for their 
division for 2014/15 and 2015/16.  The aim of the scheme was to enhance 
the wellbeing of children and young people in Gloucestershire by increasing 
the range of activities and opportunities available to them across the county.

As at the end of June 2015, 61% of the available grant funding for Active 
Together had been awarded.  Grants awarded from the Children’s Activity 
Fund amounted to 66% of the funding for 2014/15 and as at the end of June 
2015, 4% of the 2015/16 funding had been awarded.  The Healthy Together 
grant was only for one year and by the end of March 2015, 86% had been 
awarded.  Three districts did not allocate all their funding and the remainder 
was transferred to the districts’ Active Together funds.

Page 111



Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit

The objective of the audit was to review the governance, management and 
monitoring arrangements for the schemes, seeking assurance that the 
applications approved were in line with the criteria of the grant conditions, as 
well as complying with Accounting Instruction 15 – “Applications for grant aid 
from outside organisations”.

Risks

 Poor communications strategy;
 Inequitable allocation of the fund;
 Lack of transparency over approval of bids;
 Poor governance arrangements;
 Poor vetting procedures resulting in funds being distributed to 

ineligible organisations;
 Lack of authorisation when allocating funds;
 No monitoring once funding has been issued;
 Inappropriate use of fund - not meeting aims and objectives of the 

scheme/ not used for the purpose it was intended;
 Individual projects are not sustainable over the long term;
 Negative publicity;
 Political risks due to Member involvement;
 Poor value for money; and
 Lack of audit trails to evidence spending.

Page 112



Key Findings

Public Health (PH)

 Not all staff involved in the grant process had completed a Declaration of 
Interest form.

Recommendation 1

All current and future staff involved in the grant decision making 
process should complete a Declaration of Interests form and any 
change of circumstance should be declared as soon as it occurs.

Declaration forms should be renewed on an annual basis.

 Accounting Instruction 15 states that there are minimum financial checks 
that should be made before recommending a grant of £5,000 and over in 
value for approval.  For individual grant allocations of £4,999 and less, 
financial checks should still take place if the grant recipient is deemed to be 
high risk.

Applications for grants under £5,000 had not been subject to a financial 
check in accordance with the requirements of the revised Accounting 
Instruction 15.

Recommendation 4

All future grant applications should be assessed in accordance with 
section 3.1 of Accounting Instruction 15, to establish whether a 
financial check is required.

 Section 3.3 of the revised Accounting Instruction (Budget Holder 
Responsibilities) says “For applicants without accounts, grants over £5,000 
will need approval and confirmation that the grant complies with the 
strategic service objectives from the appropriate Director supporting the 
grant service.”  Two applications over £5,000 did not provide accounts, but 
no evidence seen of approval having been sought from the appropriate 
Director prior to payment of the grant.

Recommendation 5

Approval from the appropriate Director should be provided in respect 
of any future applications where accounts are not provided, in 
accordance with section 3.3 of Accounting Instruction 15.

 Any applications classed as high risk following the financial check are 
highlighted to the Outcome Manager (PH) who will review them and decide 
whether or not to proceed.  She then advises the Director: PH of any 
decisions she has made.  It would be prudent for the rationale behind the 

Page 113



decision to proceed with an application which has been assessed as being 
a high risk to be formally documented by the Outcome Manager (PH) and 
for this to be used to aid the fortnightly discussion with the Director (PH) or 
highlighted to the Director (PH) prior to the request for approval for 
payment of the grant being sought.

Recommendation 6

High risk applications should be discussed with the Commissioning 
Director: Children and the Director: Public Health prior to payment 
authorisation and if it is agreed to proceed, that the rationale and 
evidence of approval should be documented by the Outcome 
Manager (PH).

 Before any grant is paid, a Grant Acceptance form has to be signed and 
returned by the applicants.  The revised Accounting Instruction 15 includes 
details that are expected to be included on the Grant Acceptance form 
which applicants should confirm they agree to.  The acceptance form in 
use was reviewed against the revised Accounting Instruction and it was 
noted that the recommended wording regarding assets was not included, 
neither was the recommendation relating to variations to the purpose of the 
grant.

Recommendation 7

The Grant Acceptance form should be amended to include all of the 
recommended points as laid down within point 2.2 of Accounting 
Instruction 15.

 Question 4.3 on the Active Together application asks whether, if the 
funding requested is for less than the total cost of the project, the balance 
has already been raised.  It also states that the grant will not be released 
until the balance has been raised or secured and requests documentation 
to confirm this.  Of the applications reviewed, two of the applicants had 
answered ‘yes’ to this question, but evidence could not be found to confirm 
that the balance of funding had been raised.

Recommendation 8

The two projects where evidence of matched funding could not be 
provided should be included in the sample of proposed compliance 
monitoring visits.

Strategic Finance

 Prior to the launch of the grant schemes, Accounting Instruction 15 was 
reviewed and revised and the amended Instruction was approved by 
Financial Officers Management Team FOMT) in July 2014.  However, the 

Page 114



decision to publish the Accounting Instruction on Staffnet was put on hold 
due to the possible redevelopment of the Council’s Financial Regulations 
and Accounting Instructions.

Discussion had taken place at the time with the Outcome Manager (PH) 
concerning the proposed changes/new requirements of the Accounting 
Instruction.  Whilst Strategic Finance informed the Outcome Manager (PH) 
via email in July 2014 that the Accounting Instruction had been approved, a 
copy of the updated document was not forwarded with the email.

Recommendation 2

The revised Accounting Instruction 15 to be published on Staffnet 
and a message disseminated to all staff to ensure that they are made 
aware of the updated regulations.

 Accounting Instruction 15 specifies that applications should be subject to a 
financial check if the grant is over £5,000, not materially less than £5,000 
or if the grant recipient is deemed to be high risk.  We were advised that 
checks were not normally undertaken on grants below £5,000, which was 
contrary to the requirements of the Accounting Instruction.

In addition, the Healthy Together applications were assessed by a 
consultant and the assessment criteria stated that the information only 
needed to be forwarded to Strategic Finance if further scrutiny of the 
accounts was required.  We were advised that none of the applications 
were forwarded to Strategic Finance for a financial check.

In order for there to be no ambiguity as to when a financial check is 
deemed necessary, it would be prudent to redefine the grant value to be 
applied to be £5,000 or over.

Recommendation 3

Accounting Instruction 15 should be amended to:
 State that financial checks should be undertaken by Strategic 

Finance.
 Redefine the values to be applied, for when grants should be 

subject to a financial check.

Page 115



Action taken as at the end of May 2016 and/or proposed:

Public Health

Management response to Recommendation 1

Declarations of interest completed by staff involved with the grants programme.  
This will be reviewed annually. 

Management response to Recommendation 4

Project staff have been reminded of AI 15 and the requirement for financial 
checks.  Any applications under £5000 that may be considered high risk are 
discussed with the Outcome Manager and then Finance if necessary.

Management response to Recommendation 5

Recommendation adopted and implemented in the pathway for assessing grant 
applications.

Management response to Recommendation 6

Recommendation adopted and implemented in the pathway for assessing grant 
applications. 

Management response to Recommendation 7

Grant acceptance form has been amended. 

Management response to Recommendation 8

Monitoring visits have commenced and the projects are included on the list of 
planned visits.

Strategic Finance

Management response to Recommendation 2

Accounting Instruction 15 has been published on Staffnet and a “news bulletin 
message” on Staffnet was used to highlight the Accounting Instruction to ensure 
all staff were made aware of the updated regulations.

Management response to Recommendation 3

Prior to the publication on Staffnet, the Accounting Instruction was updated to 
clarify the requirement for financial checks to be undertaken by Strategic Finance 
(using a generic e-mail address) and that checks must be requested for all 
amounts of £5,000 and above.  

Page 116



Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Audit and Governance Committee 24th June 2016 on the 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit 
report relating to the audit of Capital – Virements and Delegated Powers

Lead Officer: Paul Blacker – Head of Financial Management

Summary of Audit Area 

The Council’s approved Capital Programme (period 2015/16 to 2017/18) is £459m. 
Once this programme was approved, Cabinet, Cabinet Members or appropriate 
Officers under delegated powers become responsible for taking in-year decisions on 
resources and priorities and can therefore approve virements between schemes 
providing the decision is not contrary to the budget. In this context, contrary to the 
budget, may be through:

 Initiating a new policy;

 Committing capital expenditure in the current or future years to a level above 
the approved budget levels;

 Transferring resources from revenue to capital budgets, except via a 
revenue contribution to capital outlay (RCCO); and

 Entering into a capital commitment if it involves a material change to the 
nature of the project as set out in the agreed project appraisal.

Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit

Financial Regulations and Accounting Instruction No.19 details the framework for 
capital expenditure when preparing the capital programme, monitoring of capital 
spend and capital delegated processes. This audit reviewed the level of compliance 
with this Instruction to ensure that Capital Virements have been documented, 
actioned correctly and approved by officers under delegated powers.

Risks

 Lack of control / clarity.

 Decisions are taken by officers without the delegated powers / not aligned to 
the Constitution.

 Officers may inadvertently exceed their powers under the scheme of 
delegation.

 Damage to reputation.

Page 119



Key Findings

 In February 2015, approval was given by Council to the Capital Programme set 
out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy and delegated authority to the 
Director: Strategic Finance, to vary allocations between individual schemes in 
consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change.  In practice, in-year virements are approved by a number of officers 
across the Council.

 Strategic Finance has endeavoured to strengthen the control framework for the 
management of the Council’s approved Capital Programme. This includes 
reporting significant changes to Cabinet as a section of the Financial Monitoring 
reports and a refresh of Accounting Instruction No.19 to provide further guidance 
to officers.

 The vast majority of capital virements made in 2015/16 relate to the allocations for 
(1) Communities and Infrastructure and (2) Children’s and Families. In-year 
changes are approved during the respective Capital Programme / Capital Control 
meetings and are recorded in the minutes of these meetings. Copies of the 
minutes are held by Strategic Finance as a record to support the changes made. 
This is in accordance with Accounting Instruction No. 19. 

 In other service areas i.e. Adults / AMPS, we found that virements have been 
requested through email to Strategic Finance. However, the use of email (on its 
own) is not in accordance with the guidance published in Accounting Instruction 
No.19, which advises officers to complete and submit a Capital Virement form. 

Conclusion

The framework for the management of the capital programme is developing to meet the 
challenges of a changing organisation e.g. an expanding role of the Property Board which 
is chaired by the Director: Strategic Finance.

In April 2015, the revised guidance to officers was published in Accounting Instruction 
No.19 which incorporates the requirements for the approval of virements and how these 
should be documented.  However, the use of email as a method to instruct virements has 
not been subject to challenge by Strategic Finance despite this being outside of the 
published guidance. 

Although it has become accepted practice that various officers across the Council will 
approve capital virements, the formal authorisation from the Director: Strategic Finance / 
Service Directors has not been obtained and documented as expected under the 
Scheme of Delegation.  The absence of a formal scheme of delegation for the Capital 
budget is considered a significant governance and control weakness that needs to be 
addressed to provide clarity to officers on the limits of their delegated powers in this area.

Page 120



Action taken as at the end of May 2016 or proposed

A formal Scheme of Delegation for approving capital virements was agreed and adopted 
on 6th June 2016, a copy of which has been given to the Monitoring Officer.  Individual 
officers have been made aware of their delegated powers. 

Accounting Instruction No.19 will be updated to reflect the Scheme of Delegation and a 
revised version of the instruction will be published on Staffnet during June 2016.  A “news 
bulletin message” will be used on Staffnet to highlight the revised Accounting Instruction 
to ensure all staff are made aware of the update.   

 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 123

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	April 2016

	4 Grant Thornton Committee Update
	5 Grant Thornton Audit Fee Letter
	6 Annual Report on Treasury Management
	7 Annual Report on Risk Management Activity 2015/2016
	Annual report on RM activity 2015-16 update 9th June 2016 AGC
	Strategic Risk Updated 14.6.2016

	8 Annual Report on Internal Audit Activity 2015/2016
	Annual report on Internal Audit Activity 2015-16 v1.1 AGC
	Spreadsheet v1.1 IA

	9 Internal Audit Limited Assurance Reports
	Active Together, Healthy Together and Children's Activity Fund Limited Assurance progress
	Capital Virements and Delegated Powers - Limited Assurance Report to AGC (2)

	11 Exempt Internal Audit Limited Assurance Report



